Bank Stock Returns and Macroeconomic Variables: Empirical Evidence from Selected ASEAN Countries



MASTER OF SCIENCE (FINANCE) UNIVERSITI UTARA MALAYSIA

December 2015

Bank Stock Returns and Macroeconomic Variables: Empirical Evidence from Selected ASEAN Countries



Thesis Submitted to School of Economics, Finance & Banking (SEFB) Universiti Utara Malaysia In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Sciences (Finance)

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this dissertation/project paper in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Post Graduate degree from the Universiti Utara Malaysia (UUM), I agree that the Library of this university may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying this dissertation/project paper in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by my supervisor(s) or in their absence, by the Dean of School of Economics, Finance & Banking (SEFB). Where I did my dissertation/project paper. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this dissertation/project paper parts of it for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the UUM in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my dissertation/project paper.

Request for permission to copy or to make other use of materials in this dissertation/project paper in whole or in part should be addressed to:

Dean of School of Economics, Finance & Banking (SEFB) Universiti Utara Malaysia 06010 UUM Sintok Kedah Darul Aman

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study is to examine the effect of macroeconomic variables on bank stock returns in ASEAN. The panel data were retrieved from the DataStream and World Bank data archive, consisting of 58 banks from six countries (Malaysia, Indonesia, Singapore, Thailand, Philippines, and Vietnam) for the period 2004 to 2014. The bank stock return index is used as a proxy for bank stock return while proxies for macroeconomic variables are money supply, interest rate, inflation, and foreign exchange rate. By applying pooled OLS regression analysis, the results show that money supply has negative impact on bank stock returns, indicating that changes in money supply is a major signal for change in stock price because it has a direct influence on stock market and an indirect influence on bond market based on the adjustment of interest rates. Inflation also has negative significant influence on bank stock returns, implying that negative inflation –real activity induced the relationship through the money demand theory and the quantity theory of money. Foreign exchange rate has a positive significance influence on bank stock returns, indicating that the foreign exchange exposures of ASEAN banks have influenced their stock returns since most part of the stock returns are sensitive to the changes in exchange rates during the periods. Meanwhile, interest rate is insignificant with bank stock returns, implying that interest rate sensitivity does not exert a significant impact on the common stock of the banks, which could be caused by the effect of wealth distribution triggered by unexpected inflation when banks hold nominal assets and nominal liabilities. It is recommended that ASEAN banks should involve in various off-balance sheet activities and implement effective and efficient approaches of risk management which reduce their exposure to fluctuations in macroeconomic factors.

Keywords: macroeconomic, stock returns, money supply, interest rate, inflation, exchange rate.

ABSTRAK

Tujuan kajian ini adalah untuk mengkaji kesan pembolehubah makroekonomi pulangan saham bank di ASEAN. Data panel telah diambil dari Datastream dan data Bank Dunia, yang terdiri daripada 58 bank dari enam negara (Malaysia, Indonesia, Singapura, Thailand, Philippines dan Vietnam) bagi tempoh 2004 hingga 2014. Bank indeks pulangan saham digunakan sebagai proksi untuk kembali saham bank manakala proksi untuk pembolehubah makroekonomi adalah bekalan wang, kadar faedah, inflasi, dan kadar pertukaran asing. Dengan menggunakan panel OLS dikumpulkan analisis regresi, keputusan menunjukkan bahawa bekalan wang mempunyai kesan negatif ke atas pulangan saham bank dan menunjukkan bahawa perubahan dalam penawaran wang adalah isyarat utama bagi perubahan dalam harga saham kerana ia mempunyai pengaruh langsung ke atas pasaran saham dan pengaruh tidak langsung kepada pasaran bon berdasarkan pelarasan kadar faedah. Inflasi juga mempunyai pengaruh negatif yang besar ke atas pulangan saham bank, membayangkan hubungan melalui teori permintaan wang dan teori kuantiti wang. Kadar pertukaran asing mempunyai pengaruh yang signifikan dan positif ke atas pulangan saham bank, menunjukkan bahawa pendedahan pertukaran asing bank ASEAN telah mempengaruhi pulangan saham kerana kebanyakan sebahagian daripada pulangan saham sensitif kepada perubahan dalam kadar pertukaran sepanjang tempoh itu. Sementara itu, kadar faedah adalah tidak penting dengan pulangan saham bank, membayangkan bahawa sensitiviti kadar faedah tidak memberikan kesan yang besar ke atas saham biasa bank-bank, yang boleh disebabkan oleh kesan pengagihan kekayaan yang dicetuskan oleh inflasi yang tidak dijangka apabila bank-bank mempunyai aset yang nominal dan liabiliti nominal. Ia adalah disyorkan bahawa bank-bank di negara ASEAN harus melibatkan pelbagai aktiviti di luar lembaran imbangan dan melaksanakan pendekatan yang berkesan dan cekap pengurusan risiko yang mengurangkan pendedahan mereka kepada faktor-faktor makroekonomi.

Kata kunci: makroekonomi, pulangan saham, bekalan wang, kadar faedah, inflasi, kadar pertukaran.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT



Bismillahir Rahmanir Rahim. All my praises and gratitude to Allah, the Merciful, for His kindness and for meeting me with many wonderful people who, with His Grace, have helped me tremendously in the successful completion of this research. After all, once again, I am so much grateful to Allah who grants me the opportunity, patience, ability, wisdom and strength to finish this thesis with success. From the beginning I am also grateful to University Utara Malaysia for giving me an opportunity to further my academic dream in its highest elevation in an eminent management University, I am proud being a UUM Alumni. Furthermore, my special indebtedness goes to my humble, helpful, dedicating, caring and elegant supervisor **Dr. Sabri bin Nayan** for his thoughtful guidance, patience and fabulous suggestions throughout the period of the research.

Special dedicated to my dearest parents and all my family who have been continuous sources of inspiration and encouragement, giving a great support throughout the duration of my studies and unceasing prayers for my success.

In additional, thank to my University in Iraq has given me the opportunity to complete postgraduate master, and more thanks for lecturer and staff their useful ideas, constructive comments, criticism and suggestion throughout the duration of completing this research. Thanks again everyone, including those who I have probably forgotten to mention here. Thank you.

I thank all the people around me for their help and supported, many people, especially my classmates and (UUM) lecturer and staff, have made valuable comment, suggestions on this study, which gave me an inspiration to improve this thesis. Also wish I would like to extend my sincere thanks and appreciation to the persons in Iraq who provided me the necessary information to complete my research.

AHMED JASIM MOHAMMED DECEMBER 2015

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERMISSION TO USE i
ABSTRACT ii
ABSTRAKiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT iv
LIST OF APPENDICESix
LIST OF TABLESx
LIST ABBREVIATIONSxi
Universiti Utara Malaysia
Table of Contents
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION1
1.0 Background1
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Monetary System in ASEAN
1.2.1 Indonesia
1.2.2 Malaysia4
1.2.3 Singapore
1.2.4 Thailand6
1.2.5 Philippines7
1.3 Problem Statement

1.4	Research Questions	10
1.5	Research Objectives	.10
1.6	Significance of the study	10
1.7	Scope and Limitations of the study	11
1.8	Organization of the study	12
СНАР	TER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	.13
2.0	Introduction	.13
2.1	Economic Growth and Financial Liberalization in ASEAN	13
2.2	The ASEAN Stock Market	15
2.3 T	he Relationship between Money Supply and Bank Stock Returns	. 17
2.4	The Relationship between Interest Rate and Bank Stock Returns	20
2.5	The Relationship between Foreign Exchange Rate and Bank Stock Returns	22
2.6	The Relationship between Inflation Rate and Bank Stock Returns	24
2.7	Summarizing of the Literature Review	27
СНАР	TER THREE: METHODOLOGY	.29
3.0	Introduction	29
3.1	Data Descriptions	.29
3.2	Sources of Data	.30
3.3	Definition of the Variables	30
3.:	3.1 Dependent Variable	.30
3.	3.2 Independent Variables	.31
3.	4 Hypotheses Development	.37
3.4	4.1 Money Supply (M2)	.37

3.4.2	Interest rrate
3.4.3	Inflation Rate
3.4.4	Exchange Rate40
3.5 Sı	immarizing of the hypotheses 41
3.6 Th	eoretical framework42
3.7 Re	gression Method43
3.8 En	npirical Method43
3.8.1	Correlation44
3.8.2	Panel Least Squares Regression44
3.8.3	Unit Root Test44
3.8.4	Granger causality Test45
HAPTER	FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.0	Intro	oduction	.46
4.1	Desc	criptive Statistics.	.46
4.2	Corr	relation	.47
4.3	Regi	ression Analysis	.49
4.4	Unit	Root Tests	.52
4.5	Grar	nger Causality Tests	.53
4.6	Disc	cussion of Findings	54
4.6	.1	Money supply and bank stock return	54
4.6	.2	Interest rate and bank stock return	55
4.6	.3	Inflation rate and bank stock return	55
4.6	.4	Foreign exchange rate and bank stock return	56
4.7	Con	ciuding Remarks	.57

СНАРТ	FER FIVE: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	58
5.0	Introduction	58
5.1	Overview of the Research Process	58
5.2	Implication of the study	59
5.2.	2.1 Body of Knowledge	59
5.2.	Policy Implications	60
5.2.	2.3 Practical implications	60
5.3	Limitations of the Study	61
5.4	Suggestions for Future Research	61
REFE	ERENCE	62



Universiti Utara Malaysia

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: List of ASEAN Banks74
Appendix B: Regression Analysis75
Appendix C: Descriptive statistics
Appendix D: Granger causality77
Appendix E: Panel Least Squares for countries
Universiti Utara Malaysia

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Sample periods used for each country	29
Table 3.2: Number of banks	30
Table 3.3: Measurement of dependent and independent variables	36
Table 4.1: Summary of the descriptive statistics	46
Table 4.2: Correlation Matrix	47
Table 4.3: Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) for Multicollinearity test	48
Table 4.4: Regression Analysis	49
Table 4.5 Panel OLS Regression for ASEAN (Individual countries)	51
Table 4.6 Unit root test	52
Table 4.7 Granger Causality Tests	53
Table 4.8: Summary of Hypotheses	57

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ASEAN – Association of South East Asian Nations

- BI Bank of Indonesia
- BNM Bank Negara Malaysia
- BoT Bank of Thailand
- BSP Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas
- IMF International Monetary Fund
- MAS Monetary Authority of Singapore
- DJIA Dow Jones Industrial Average
- CPI Consumer Price Index
- M Money Supply
- FOREX Foreign Exchange Rate

Universiti Utara Malaysia

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.0 Background

Investment is simply regarded as funds' commitment. In investment, portfolio managers or investors struggle with determining the value of a specific financial asset that is invested on for a period; in order to evaluate whether or not the investment is up to its worth. In making decision on the way to allocate funds among various investment opportunities, it deems imperative to properly assess the intrinsic value of the investments by comparing the estimated value with the main market prices. In regards to the issue of estimating financial asset value, numerous valuation approaches for estimation have been formulated over time. These valuation approaches apply numerous inputs such as the expected rate of return, risk premium, cash flow, interest rate, inflation rate, exchange rate, growth rate, and sales. These variables that are regarded to be associated with the future returns on investment are seriously influenced by the economic attitude. In addition, based on operating in diverse industries in similar economy, companies have different sensitivities to economic factors such as interest rates, inflation, exchange rates, money supply, and economic growth. Thus, companies' different industry and economic environment should be put into consideration in the process of valuation.

Macroeconomic variables are theoretically considered as the causes of volatility in the stock market. Thus, these variables are considered as the important indicator of stock returns. According to Binder and Merges (2001), market portfolio return volatility is negatively associated with the ratio of required profits to required incomes of the

economy. Furthermore, Nardari and Scruggs (2005) conclude that increase in uncertainty concerning future expected returns is mostly related with recessions. Though, both Moore (1983) and Schwert (1989) regard stock prices as an important indicator, stating that the changes in stock prices occur before the changes in business activities. In studies, the association between stock returns and economic variables has been proven especially in advanced markets. Despite the evidence of significant associations between economic variables and stock returns in both advanced and developing markets, there is so far no agreement concerning neither the causal direction nor signs of association.

1.1 Introduction

One of the essential areas in finance and economics is the stock market; and the attempt in predicting its performance has enticed important consideration of various economic and financial analysts representing a popular part of financial studies. Essentially, supply and demand determine the price of a stock (Al-Shubiri, 2010). The amount of shares issued by a firm created supply of stock, while the amount of people who wish to buy the shares created the demand. In this case, sellers and buyers assess information on the company, the industry, the business environment, as well as their own goals of investment (Palepu, Healy & Peek, 2008; NYSE, 2006). The first thing to consider when making a decision on buying or selling a stock is the financial healthiness of the company. Cash flow analysis, ratio analysis and strategy analysis are key liquidity determinants to evaluate the financial healthiness of the firm by considering the previous, current and future performance of the firm (Palepu et al., 2008).

Another essential factor that is considered in firm evaluating is the industrial performance (Palepu et al., 2008). When an industry is declining, investors may wonder why the firm

is not growing even when it is financially healthy. Adding to the specific industry or firm, general trends signifying fluctuations in the overall political and economic environment will be carefully monitored by the investors. These signals can indicate the healthiness of the economy (NYSE, 2006). Meanwhile, macroeconomic variables measured the performance of the economic environment. There are numerous studies that evaluate the link between stock performance and these variables over a kind of diverse time horizons (Mollick & Assefa, 2013; Abugri, 2006; Asprem, 1989). This study concentrates on how the stock return of the banks is affected by some of these macroeconomic variables specific interest rate, foreign exchange rate, inflation rate, and money supply.

1.2 Monetary System in ASEAN

1.2.1 Indonesia

The main objective of the central bank of Indonesia (BI) has usually been to attain and sustain its currency (Rupiah) value stability. Before the financial crisis, BI was implementing a swarming peg exchange rate system to attain this objective. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) categorized Indonesia as country implementing a managed floating system at that period. Though, the Rupiah was basically fixed to the US dollar having a fixed depreciation rate that is usually announced once a year. The austere pressure of depreciation during the crisis led to BI abandoning the exchange rate system and adopting an open system in a robust base money targeting context. This was applied to tame inflation and reinstate reliance in the currency. In order to achieve the target of the base money, BI depends on an open market operation instrument by selling BI's certificate.

Institutionally, after the crisis, there was a significant change in Indonesia monetary policy. A new central banking law was enacted in 1999 to establish BI independence. The act gratifies BI to fix a target for inflation each year and the direct monetary policy to actualize it. In other words, due to the act, BI must adopt an inflation targeting framework. Recently, the operating target for attaining BI monetary policy has moved to targeting an interest rate (the 30-days SBI rate) from targeting base money.

1.2.2 Malaysia

The main goal of Malaysia's central bank – Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM) is to achieve a price stability that will lead to a supportive environment for promotion of a viable economic activity level. In order to achieve this goal, the strategy of the BNM monetary policy before the mid-1990s had focused on monetary aggregate target. The strategy was not officially known to the public that the daily volume of money market liquidity was influenced by BNM in order to be in line with the target of monetary growth. Instability of targeted monetary aggregates was created by large capital inflows and its contrary in the early 1990s (Cheong, 2005). Therefore, BNM moved its concentration to interest rate targeting from monetary targeting in the mid-1990s. BNM applies the 3-month interbank rate to achieve the operational policy target. In regards to the exchange rate system, IMF categorized BNM as using a managed floating system. The exchange rate of Malaysian Ringgit is allowed to be free in some unexpected band and the BNM mediate when it is necessary.

In reaction to the financial crisis Asian, the exchange rate of Ringgit was fixed towards the end of 1998 along with an obligation of a selective capital control so as to offer a better monetary autonomy to BNM in manipulating domestic interest rate in order to aid the recovery of the economy (Kim & Lee, 2004). Though, BNM shifted back to the adoption of a managed float exchange rate system in July 2005.

1.2.3 Singapore

The Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) has a major goal of stimulating price stability in order to ensure low inflation rate as a complete foundation for a sustainable economic development. In achieving its goal, a unique monetary policy framework is adopted MAS by focusing on management of exchange rate relative to managing the interest rate or the money supply. The Singapore dollar exchange rate has been managed by MAS since 1981 against an unidentified trade-weighted bag of currencies of Singapore's main trading competitors and partners (Parrado, 2004; McCallum, 2006). The structure of this bag is being occasionally reviewed in order to be in line with the changes in the trade patterns of Singapore. However, they did not disclose the facts regarding the index as well as the limits of the target bands. The level of any depreciation or appreciation rest mostly on the anticipated inflationary pressures and the MAS interferes in the foreign exchange market in order to avert extravagant changes in the exchange rate.

The rationalization behind this exclusive behavior lies mainly on the features of the economy of Singapore which is small and open. In this type of case, the exchange rate is considered to be a perfect intermediary target for monetary policy in order to uphold price stability. The high financial openness level and capital flow sensitivity to interest rate disparities makes it challenging to target either interest rates or money supply in

Singapore. Net cash flows from abroad explain the bulk of changes in local money supply and local interest rates are mostly determined by both foreign rates and market anticipations on the future influence of the Singapore dollar.

1.2.4 Thailand

The Bank of Thailand (BoT) does not specify a major goal in its act. Though practically, upholding financial and monetary stability to accomplish sustainable economic development has constantly been the main objective of the BoT. In addition, BoT made the announcement in May 2000 that they are adopting an explicit inflation.

In order to attain its objective, the framework of BoT's monetary policy could be divided into three different incidents. Prior to the 1997 financial meltdown, the adoption of the pegged exchange rate system was the anchor of BoT's monetary policy (Phuvanatnaranubala, 2005). However, the announcement of the value of Thai Baht against the US dollar was usually done and defended on a daily basis.

Due to the breakdown of the 1997 financial crisis, BoT has been forced to float the exchange rate and adopt the monetary targeting system for achieving its monetary policy. Based on the pegged exchange rate previously adopted by the BoT, the management of the liquidity was also done on a daily basis in order to avoid excessive liquidity and interest rate volatility in the financial system. An extensive reassessment of both the external and domestic environment was made in May 2000, and decided to change to the adoption of inflation targeting framework in steering its monetary policy (Devakula, 2001, Phuvanatnaranubala, 2005). The main reason for the move was a valuation that the association between the money supply and growth output is unstable, particularly after

the main crisis when there is uncertainty in the credit extensions and rapid changes in the financial sector in Thailand. Based on this framework, the monetary policy of BoT is implemented by manipulating short-term money market rates through its main policy rates, the 14-day repurchase rate.

1.2.5 Philippines

The main goal of the monetary policy of the central bank of the Philippines (Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas – BSP) is to maintain the stability of price that favorable for a stable and a sustainable economic growth. BSP achieved its independence in monetary policy in 1986. Beginning from January 2002, BSP officially announced the adoption of an inflation targeting context for its system of monetary policy. Regarding the exchange rate system, BSP is classified as an independent floater.

In order to attain its monetary policy main objective, BSP adopted a stringent monetary targeting framework till the middle of 1995. This is due to the observed stable and foreseeable association between the ultimate target and the monetary target of monetary policy. The operational goal was to achieve M3 by influencing the base money as the instrument of the policy. When this observed stable association started to be debatable, BSP steadily changed its framework of monetary policy in 1995. The innovative monetary policy framework adopted during that period was aimed to accompaniment the aggregate monetary targeting adding some method of inflation targeting, and gradually placing additional weight on the latter. Based on the changes, the instrument for policy was also progressively attuned to interest rate targeting from quantity targeting.

1.3 Problem Statement

Most economists and financial analysts conclude that the bank costs, revenues and profitability are directly affected by unanticipated changes in the money supply and interest rates (Choi & Yoon, 2015; Chude & Chude, 2013 Kasman et al., 2011; Saunders & Yourougou, 1990). Due to the process of globalization and liberalization of the financial market, the majority of the banks typically performs their operations in overseas and usually face exposure to interest rate risk due to the volatile conditions of financial markets in present years. Thus, changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rate, inflation rate and money supply could have a negative influence on the bank viability since their influence cannot be removed through methods of risk management (Gilkenson & Smith, 1992).

The exposure of banking institutions to changes in money supply, interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate, and inflation can be reduced through the implementation of effective and efficient methods of risk management and involving in numerous off-balance sheet transactions (Kasman et al., 2011). However, there is more vulnerability on the part of financial institutions in developing countries because of their insufficiency in such techniques and instruments. It is not amazed that severe financial crises often occur in these countries. Therefore, it is imperative and worthy to examine the effect of money supply and interest rate on the stock return of the banks in ASEAN since most of the countries under this association are developing countries, and the findings can have significant effects on policy formulation and financial stability of banks and regulatory authorities in ASEAN.

According to Kasman, Vardar, and Tunc (2011), the effect of interest rate and exchange rate volatility on bank's stock return was the major interests of the public as it is the key

attribute giving the adverse impact of bank and causing the failure of numerous banks. Exchange rate and interest rate changes could have a negative effect on the banks viability as this impact could only be reduced but couldn't be avoided through risk management techniques (Gilkenson & Smith, 1992). Many new banks have been setup during the economice boom, but at the same time a lot of banks ran out when economy recession. However, some of the researches for example Butt et al. (2010) indicate that market risk was the major factor that affects the volatility of banks stock returns. Besides, research has been done by Pan, Fok, and Liu, (2007) report that government of Malaysia impost more capital control as compared to other developed countries. Thus, the money supply may greater impact on banks stock returns. Furthermore, research of Butt et al. Stated that industrial production, money supply and inflation do not show a significant impact on the banks stock returns in emerging market according to Muneer et al. (2011).

In spite of the clear necessity to understand the influence of money supply and interest rate on the stock return of banks, only limited studies examined overtly the joint relationship of money supply and interest rate on stock returns of banks and its volatility in the case of developing markets (Adam & Tweneboah, 2008; Al-Sharkas, 2004; Maysami et al., 2004). Though, many of the research on this problem only focused on developing markets (Choi & Jen, 1991; Laurenceson, 2002; Gunsel & Cukur, 2007; Humpe & Macmillan, 2007). Therefore, the goal of this research is to add to the related studies by examining the effect of interest rate and money supply on bank returns applying data from the major markets in ASEAN from 2004-2014. ASEAN stock

markets are of interest because of the increased economic cooperation in accordance with the ASEAN agreement, the successful financial reform, and the distinguished structure of emerging stock markets.

1.4 Research Questions

- 1. How does the interest rate affect the stock returns of banks?
- 2. How does the foreign exchange rate affect the stock returns of banks?
- 3. How does inflation rate affect the stock returns of banks?
- 4. How does money supply affect the stock returns of banks?

1.5 Research Objectives

- 1. To examine the influence of money supply on the stock returns of banks.
- 2. To examine the impact of interest rate on the stock returns of banks.
- 3. To investigate the influence of the inflation rate on the stock returns of banks.
- 4. To evaluate the effect of foreign exchange rate on the stock returns of banks.

1.6 Significance of the study

This study will be of importance to other researchers, policy maker, and practitioners within and outside the region of ASEAN. This study will be useful for research because it contributes to the body of knowledge of banking studies, especially on the relationship between macroeconomic variables and bank stock returns. The result of this empirical research is useful to other researchers. It is advantageous due to its contribution to the body of knowledge especially on the association between macroeconomic variables and

bank stock return. This study also provides evidence of the relationship between money supply, interest rate, inflation rate and foreign exchange rate with bank stock returns in ASEAN. This study will be of importance to policy makers because it will facilitate the formulation of policies regarding macroeconomic variables in banking, and also to promote, effective risk culture through enforcing the implementation of an effective risk management on banks for creation of measures and prevention against any possible threat of financial crisis on the economy. It is of importance to practitioners by showing the value of macroeconomic variables on bank performance, and enables them to improve their risk management practice.



The data used for this study are limited and applicable to conventional commercial listed banks in ASEAN. The data consists of 58 banks from six countries (Malaysia, Indonesia, Singapore, Thailand, Philippines, and Vietnam) for the period 2004 to 2014.

However, the results and the recommendations are useful for both financial and nonfinancial firms, governments, financial analysts, researchers, managers, accountants and stakeholders and all other interested users.

1.8 Organization of the study

Chapter 1: contains the introduction, background of the study, problem statement, research questions and objectives, significance of the study, and scope of the study.

Chapter 2: focuses on the literature reviews of previous researches that relate to this study. Further, this chapter provides a review of literature which is related to clarifying financial theory regarding relationship between economic factors and stock returns.

Chapter 3: Discusses the methodology which includes the research design.

Chapter 4: provides pattern and the analysis of the findings and interpretation of data to answer the objectives of the study. The discussion that includes the result between the dependent variables and independent variables with the results of hypotheses tested is presented. Lastly, a summary of results can be obtained at the end of this chapter.

Chapter 5: Discusses the summary of the findings, recommendations followed by limitations and future research.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.0 Introduction

An insight on what this study entails was given by previous chapter through expatiating on the views of researchers on interest rate, foreign exchange rate, inflation rate and money supply and their effect on bank stock returns. However, this chapter provides an overview of the findings of previous researches on interest rate, foreign exchange rate, inflation rate and money supply and their effect on bank stock returns. The purpose is to develop the expected relationship between these three macroeconomic variables (interest rate, foreign exchange rate and money supply) and bank stock returns. This chapter is divided into sections. Section 2.1 gives an overview of economic growth and financial liberalization in ASEAN. Section 2.2 gives a summary of the ASEAN stock return. Section 2.4 discussed in the earlier studies on the effect of foreign exchange rate on bank stock return. Section 2.5 discussed the previous studies on the relationship between inflation rate and bank stock return.

2.1 Economic Growth and Financial Liblarization in ASEAN

A remarkable record of constantly high economic development for ASEAN in the last two decades merits contemplation. ASEAN has demonstrated as leading economic power house and the fastest growing economic regional block in the world. From 1987-1992, ASEAN real GDP growth rate has remarkably ranged at averaged of 7.3%. The ASEAN growth rate of 7.3% was significantly above the 2.3% experienced by developed market economies, exceeded the North America of 2.5%, surpassing the world average of 2.2% (Tongzon, 1998). For Thailand, Singapore and Malaysia, the GDP growth rate was at 9%. Indonesia and Philippines achieve 6.6% and 3.3% respectively (Chia & Pacini, 1997). Meanwhile, ASEAN total GDP growth from 2001-2013 is 313% which surpasses that of Australia (294%), European Union (100%), India (257%), Japan (20%), Korea (137%), Taiwan (65%), and United States (57%) (Asia Matters for America).

The financial liberalization policies are undertaken in earnest in this region since the early 1970s contribute to the economic boom in ASEAN (Ariff, 1996; Chia & Pacini, 1997). These reforms attempted to expand the domestic capital mobility, as well as, to induce an inflow of international capital. Liberalization in the financial sector of Malaysia and Singapore started as early as 1973. The reform of their financial sectors was executed by opening markets to international influences, removing restrictions on the deposit interest rate, and abolishing the current and capital account restrictions. Similar reforms were undertaken a decade later in Indonesia, the Philippines, and Thailand. In the mid1980s Indonesia and Thailand took steps toward full financial liberalization by removing the interest rate ceiling and opening the current and capital accounts. In the early 1990s, the ASEAN countries have implemented another wave of liberalization policies. Both Malaysia and Singapore focused on the growth in capital markets; an investor protection was provided in Malaysia, and a preferential tax treatment for investors was provided in Singapore. In 1988, Indonesia adopted a policy to develop financial institutions and improve deposit yields. Thailand embraced a banking reform in

1990 by expanding the scope of banking business and liberalizing branches. Concurrently, the Philippines passed a new foreign investment law that allowed up to 100% foreign ownership in selected companies and eliminated all regulations on foreign exchange restrictions. In all, sequenced and gradual reforms in both real and financial sectors have improved the efficiency of the financial systems in these ASEAN countries.

2.2 The ASEAN Stock Market

The globalization of the capital forming process introduces a unique challenge to the ASEAN capital markets. In the early 1980s, when the ASEAN stock markets took off; funds from depressed European countries and recession-bound Japan were tempted by the high-profit margin from these markets. Between 1993 and 1996, money managers from the United States, Europe, and Japan pumped short-run credit into the ASEAN region and, consequently, heated the economies of Thailand, Indonesia, and Malaysia. The total foreign investment inflow into the "Asian-Gang of Five" (Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines, Thailand, and Korea) skyrocketed during the period of 1988-1991 and 1993-1996 up to almost S70 billion (Biers, 1998). This high inflow volume of foreign investment, as well as financial liberalization and deregulation undertaken domestically, had created a boom in ASEAN capital markets.

All of the market trading systems involve continuous trading; all listed securities are available for trading during the entire time the market is open for trading. This allows market participants to obtain more accurate information regarding the price quotations and trading volume. Short sales and insider trading are not permitted on any of the ASEAN markets. Traded securities do not result in immediate delivery. Instead, the number of days required for settlement, delivery and payment of a market trade varies from three business days in Thailand to seven business days in Malaysia and Singapore. Regarding foreign investment, each market maintains separate regulations governing foreign investment, including the repatriation of income and capital. There are no significant restrictions on foreign investors purchasing shares in Malaysia and Singapore. Some restrictions on foreign investment in Indonesia and Thailand indicate that a special restriction regarding registration ownership applies to foreign investors. In the Philippines, foreign investors are allowed to trade exclusively in a certain class of stocks designated for foreigners.

Over the last two decades, the size of stock market exchanges has increased, making the ASEAN countries economy to grow tremendously. Based on the World Stock Exchange Fact book, 1997, Indonesia experienced the greatest percentage increase in market capitalization of 816.38%. Malaysia's growth rate for the same period was 360.20%, the Philippines 637.66%, Singapore 83.6% and Thailand by 211.81%. The increase of market capitalization arose from both price appreciation of listed firms and significant increases in the number of firms listing their securities on the exchanges. This immense growth in market capitalization can be characterized as the emerging market phenomenon. However, is the ASEAN stock market crash in July 1997 brought all markets in this region into a collective financial crisis. This contagious effect suggests that stock markets in the ASEAN countries are closely linked.

Price (1994) presents the risk ratings of these markets from International Country Risk Guide (ICRG). The ranking takes into account political, financial, and economic issues. At the end of 1992, the Philippine stock market was considered the least attractive with respect to the aforementioned considerations, followed by the Indonesian and Thai markets. Palac -McMiken (1997) also derives ASEAN stock market risks and returns from the investment return and market volatility. He stressed that the Indonesian stock market bears the highest risk and return. The returns to both the Philippine and Thai stock markets are roughly at the same level, but the Thai market carries much less risk, making it comparatively more attractive to investors. The low risk in the more advanced markets of Malaysia and Singapore is accompanied by a low return. In this study, the rank for risk and return across ASEAN stock markets calibrated by Palac-McMiken (1997) will be referred to as the characteristics of these stock markets.

ASEAN has, further economically, expanded its business based by the establishment of the ASEAN Economic Community (AEC) in 2009. The seven countries of ASEAN exchange and the stock markets were established. This has resulted in the combination of 3,613 firms listed in seven stock markets with a market value of 1,980.3 billion \$ or ranked eighth in the World Federation of Exchanges (2013).

2.3 The Relationship between Money Supply and Bank Stock Returns

Earlier studies on the relationship between money supply and bank stock returns largely indicate that changes in the growth rate of the money supply could be used as a major indicator for changes in stock price, while subsequent studies questioned these studies (Reilly & Brown 2006).

A twofold association between the stock market and macroeconomic factor volatility was examined by Beltratia and Morana (2006). They found that the unconnected variations in the monetary policy that affect the money growth and interest rate volatilities, appears to be the main reason for the disruptions in stock returns volatilities and thus explain the degree and discrete obstacles in volatility. In addition, despite the volatility of stock market influencing the volatility of macroeconomic factors, the direction of causality is robust from macroeconomic factor to the volatility of the stock market. The study of Flannery and Protopapadakis (2001) on the NYSE-AMEX-NASD showed that the money supply is a strong candidate for risk factor. The aggregate of money (generally M1) influences both conditional volatility and returns. Errunza and Hogan (1998) found that volatility of money supply does Granger cause volatility of returns in France and Germany, but does not in Belgium, Switzerland, UK, Netherlands, and Italy.

Humpe and Macmillan (2007) found that money supply significantly and negatively influenced the stock prices in Japan, but positive and insignificant with US stock prices. Širucek (2013) that study the effect of money supply on the stock indices of US capital market during the years 1967-2011 through the Dow Jones Industrial Average (DJIA) found that there is a significant positive relationship between money supply and US stock price under the years reviewed. Choi and Yoon (2015) examined the association between Korea and US money supplies fluctuation and the Korean stock market volatility. They found no relationship between the variables, indicating that the flow of information to the market is not influenced by any changes in money supply.

There are mixed results regarding the studies of emerging markets. Muradoglu and Metin (1996) empirically found that money supply and stock returns are positively related in a short run dynamic model. Furthermore, Muradoglu et al. (2001) found that there is no cointegrate association between monetary factors and stock prices for the periods reviewed. The study of Maghayereh (2002) examined the Amman Stock Exchange; he

found that the money supply (M1) has a negative insignificant relationship with stock returns. Moreover, Karamustafa and Kucukkale (2003) found that money supply has insignificant relationship and does not Granger cause stock price.

Meanwhile, Al-Sharkas (2004) and Maysami et al. (2004) found a positive significant relationship between money supply and stock returns in Jordan and Singapore respectively. Nishat and Shaheen (2004) showed that money supply and the index of Karachi Stock Exchange are cointegrated with a two long-term equilibrium associations existing between the two variables. It also indicates that the money supply does Granger cause stock price.

Yildirtan (2007) revealed that ISE 100 Index is positive and significantly affected by an increase in the money multiplier. Abugri (2008) found that changes of stock returns to money supply significantly negative in Argentina and Brazil, while the changes of stock returns to money supply is insignificant in Chile and Mexico. Though, Tursoy et al. (2008) and Kandir (2008) showed in their respective studies that there is an insignificant relationship between money supply and stock returns. Ozturk (2008) findings showed that stock returns Granger cause money supply, but money supply does not Granger cause stock returns. Ozbay (2009) indicate that there is insignificant association between money supply and bank stock returns; implying that bank stock returns is not affected by money supply. Cagli, Halac and Taskin (2010) found that there is no co-integration between stock prices and money supply in the Turkish market. Chude & Chude (2013) examine the link between money supply and stock return in Nigeria have a positive long run relationship.

2.4 The Relationship Between Interest Rate and Bank Stock Returns

It is expected that there should be a negative relationship between interest rates and market returns either by the effect of discount factor or inflation (Ozbay, 2009). The study of Flannery (1981) applying the cash flow method with bank stocks found that they are not influenced by the fluctuations in interest rates because the changes does not significantly influence profits and costs.

Previous empirical research on the sensitivity of banks' interest rate consist of the studies of Bae (1990), Scott and Peterson (1986), Booth and Officer (1985), Flannery and James (1984), Chance and Lane (1980), Lynge and Zumwalt (1980), Lloyd and Shick (1977), and Stone (1974). By applying a two-index factor model that includes both interest rate and market factors in the bank stock returns using the theory of constant variance error terms, their findings was only different based on the level and the direction of the impact. The empirical studies of Chance and Lane (1980) and Lloyd and Shick (1977) showed a weak proof of interest rate influence on the stock return of the financial institutions. However, Bae (1990), Scott and Peterson (1986), Booth and Officer (1985), Flannery and James (1984), and Lynge and Zumwalt (1980) found that interest rates negatively influence stock returns.

Choi and Jen (1991) found that interest rate and market risk are significantly related to common stocks. The findings imply that the interest-rate risk for a large firm is negative while the interest-rate risk for smaller firms is positively significant. The findings also indicate that the interest-rate risk premium clarifies a significant part of the changes in expected returns between the bottom quintile and top quintile of the MEX and NYSE firms. Ryan and Worthington (2002) examined the relationship between interest rate bank

stock returns in Australia by dividing the interest rate into three parts which include short, medium and long-term. The findings indicate that interest rate-risk is a significant determinant of bank stock returns, alongside short and medium term interest rate volatility and levels. However, there is no significant relationship between long-term interest rates and bank stock returns. Humpe and Macmillan (2007) also found that both Japan and US stock prices have a negative relationship with long term interest rate.

The relationship between interest rate and stock returns has also been studied in emerging markets. Al-Sharkas (2004) and Adam and Tweneboah (2008) found a negative significant relationship respectively in Jordan and Ghana respectively. Maysami et al. (2004) found that short and long-term interest rates have positive and negative significant relationship with stock market in Singapore respectively. The findings of Abugri (2008) found that the effect of interest rates on stock returns is significantly negative in Argentina, Chile, and Brazil, but insignificant in Mexico. The findings of Muradoglu and Metin (1996) showed that stock returns is significantly and negatively affected by interest rates growth.

Yildirtan (2007) finds that interest rate differential and real interest rate have a very weak negative relationship with returns. The study of Kandir (2008) on stock portfolios found that interest rate have a negative influence portfolio returns. Meanwhile, Tursoy et al. (2008) find that interest rate and stock returns are insignificantly related. Ozturk (2008) found that lagged overnight interest rate does Granger-cause stock return, but stock return does Granger-causes overnight interest rate and treasury interest rate. Most studies for both emerging and developed markets indicate a negative association between interest rate and stock returns, which are in line with the assumption.

2.5 The Relationship Between Foreign Exchange Rate and Bank Stock Returens

The study of Agrawal et al. (2010) is between stock returns and the changes in the value of Indian Rupee, the findings showed a small negative influence on stock returns. Chkili and Nguyen (2014) evaluate the relationship between exchange rate and stock prices in the system-switching environment. The exchange rate effects to stock market return is insignificant for the BRICS countries (Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa), representing the five main emerging economies based on economic growth and stock market development. The findings indicate that stock markets in BRICS countries are not influenced by exchange rate, irrespective of the regimes. Caporale, Hunter and Ali (2014) studies the changes the period of instability of the exchange rate applying statistics from six developed economy on before and during the disaster period, and arriving at the same conclusion for together United Kingdom and United States during the crisis age. But, some empirical studies also show evidence of a theoretical relationship between stock performance and exchange rates. Kurihara (2006) evaluates the association between stock prices and macroeconomic variables. The findings show that exchange rate significantly influence stock prices.

The studies of Chen, Naylor and Lu (2004), Sharma and Mahendru (2010), Pan, Fok and Liu (2007), and Phylaktis and Ravazzolo (2005) found an important causalty relationship since exchange rates to returns. Also for bot Yang, Tu and Zeng (2014) showed that greatest stock markets and FX markets are negatively related in the market for nine markets Asian for 1997-2010. More and Wang (2014) also catches that there is bad

relationship among real exchange rates and stock prices for the stock market in the United States relatively to the emerging and developed Asian markets. Can Inci and Soo Lee (2014) evaluate the relationship among fluctuations in exchange rate and stock returns in five main countries in Europe and show causal relationship from fluctuations in the exchange rate to stock returns. They concluded that the relationship has been very important and more robust in the time of recession and in recent years relatively to expansion and former periods.

Based on observation, it shows that there are mixed empirical findings. Some researchers make an attempt to explain the cause of these findings with concentration the business level. For the examines Can Inci and Soo Lee (2014) stressed that industrial examination of relationship between exchange rate and returns of the stock is necessary because of the industrial variations and there might be more relevant to exposures at level of sector. Al-Shbooul and Aniwar (2014) using the data weekly from 2003 – 2011 to evaluate the exposure to exchange rate Canadian industries. Their study shows significant in four out of thirteen industries examined. Olugbode et al. (2013) evaluate exchange rate and the sensitivity of thirty-one non-financial sectors in United Kingdom during the period 1990-2006, and finalized that competitive sectors are hardly influenced relatively to other sectors, which is consistent with the view of Aray and Gardeazabal (2010). Miao et al. (2013) evaluate the impact of changes in the exchange rate on the return for the stock 16 industries in China and show proof from seven sectors out of the sixteen sectors.
2.6 The Relationship Between Inflation Rate and Bank Stock Returns

The findings of Humpe and Macmillan (2007) on the influence of macroeconomic variables on Japan and US stock returns show that there is a long-term association between stock markets and consumer price index in both US and Japan. However, only US indicates a negative relationship between stock market and consumer price index. They also claimed that consumer price index and industrial production are negatively related in Japan. These variations in findings may be related to the financial crisis that affects Japanese economy in the 1990s which lead to a liquidity trap. Gunsel and Cukur (2007) found similar findings when they found that there is an insignificant relationship between stock returns and unexpected inflation. This is because it has been predicted by the market and it has been incorporated into the stock prices prior to the announcement. Flannery and Protopapadakis (2001) find that consumer price index (CPI) strongly influence NYSE-AMEX-NASD.

Universiti Utara Malaysia

In addition, Frimpong (2009) found that macroeconomic variables applied and Ghana stock markets are significantly and negatively related. However, a positive relationship between inflation and stock returns is also found by other researchers such as Abdullah and Hayworth (1993) and Kandir (2008). Abdullah and Hayworth (1993) stressed that the positive association between the two variables is because equity is used to hedge inflation. Meanwhile, Kandir (2008) revealed that the rate of inflation is only significant in three out of the twelve portfolios examined. He made an attempt to use the equity returns as a hedge against the macroeconomic variables. Hoguet (2008) finds empirical evidence between declining stock price and high inflation, implying a negative association between stock return and inflation. Naka, Mukherjee and Tufte (1998) found

that the largest factor of stock prices in India is inflation. Chen (2005) also finds that stock return is not predicted by inflation.

Fama and Schwert (1977) find that the expected and unexpected inflation rate component and common stock returns in the USA are negatively related. Fama (1981) assume that the negative relationship inflation and the real stock returns perceived in post-1953 period leads to proxy effects. More related real variables determined stock returns, and negative stock return-inflation relationship is caused by negative relationship between real activity and inflation. Saunders and Tress (1981) find that inflation and nominal stock return of Australia are significantly and negatively related, indicating that stocks are very poor in hedging inflation for shareholders. Moreover, the findings imply a major unidirectional correlation between stock returns and inflation, as charges of price level lead equity index during the period. Gultekin (1983) finds that the association between inflation and stock returns are unstable over the period and their variations among countries irrespective of either emerging or developed markets

Similar to the findings in developed markets, the study of Nishat and Shaheen (2004) in Pakistan showed that the largest determining factor of stock prices is inflation. They also found that inflation does Granger-causes the movements of stock price in Pakistan. Al-Sharkas (2004) and Maghayereh (2002) also find a strong negative association between inflation and stock prices in Jordan. Al-Abadi and Al-Sabbagh (2006) find that anticipated inflation has a negative significant influence, while unanticipated inflation is insignificantly influence on bank stock returns.

However, some studies such as Firth (1979), Maysami et al. (2004) and Adam and Tweneboah (2008) find a positive significant relationship between stock returns and

25

inflation. Their findings indicate robust contrary empirical evidence from other studies indicating a negative relationship. The findings of Muradoglu and Metin (1996) imply that negative relationship between inflation and stock prices occurs when the model include other monetary variables. Ozturk (2008) finds that there is no causal association between stock returns and inflation. Tursoy et al. (2008) find that stock return and inflation are insignificantly related. Rjoub et al. (2009) find that unexpected inflation and constructed portfolio returns are positively related.

Li, Narayan, and Zheng (2010) find that unanticipated increase in inflation rate would negatively affect the stock market, which will lead to decrease in stock prices and stock return. Unanticipated inflation may occur during economic recession, which occurs unexpectedly. However, expected inflation occurs when the movement of future or current economy can be predicted.

Most of the previous studies found a positive association between stock returns and expected inflation, while a negative association between stock returns and unexpected inflation also occur. This indicates that, the influence between stock returns and expected inflation may be significant compare to stock returns and unexpected inflation.

No	Author, year	Type of data	Variables	Empirical	Comments
1	Andrew (2002)	Time-series (1996-2001)	Interest rate, market index , Foreign exchange rate	GARCH-M	Long-term interest rates do not appear to be significant to the Australian bank return.
2	Ozbay (2009)	Time – series (1998 to 2008)	Interest rate, real economy, inflation, foreign exchange	Granger causality model	Macroeconomic factors by using stock returns is somewhat stronger to predicting stock returns by applying macroeconomic variables.
3	Agrawal et al (2010)	Time series (2007-2009)	Stock returns, exchange rates	Granger Causality test	Which proved unidirectional causality running from stock returns to exchange rates.
4	Kasman et, al (2011)	Panel data (1999- 2009)	Interest rate, FX, MRK	OLS and GARCH	Bank stock return sensitivities are found to be stronger for market return than interest rates and exchange rates
5	Foong, et al (2012)	Monthly data (2006-2010)	BS,MR,MS,EX,I R,IPI,CPI	Multi factor model	The exchange rate is affecting all the bank stock returns while the money supply is giving the biggest effect on bank stock returns.
6	Badrudin (2009)	Panel data (1973 -2007)	Bank stock return, money supply, Lones, deposit reserves	Generalized Method of Moments (GMM)	Banks important in the development of the growth of money through loan creation of the money supply and bank stock price formation.
7	Širucek (2013)	Time series (1967-2011)	IPI,CPI.PPI, MS	Time line analysis, unit root, Granger causality	M2 is not a significant factor in the development of the speculative bubble, while the money supply represented by the MZM aggregate is an important determinant of this bubble.
8	Flannery (1981)	Panel data (1959- 1978)	Interest Rate, revenue, bank stock	Regression model	Large banks effectively hedged themselves against market rate risk by assembling asset and liability portfolio with similar average maturities.

2.7 Summarizing of the Literature Review

g	Yang (2014)& Moore (2014)	Period (1997 – 2010)		: foreign exchange markets ar ted for nine Asian markets	nd stock markets are
1	and Zumwa		and Lane (1980), Booth and Officer	By employing a two-index factor model (including both market and interest rate factors) on the bank stock returns.	Stock returns of financial institutions were negatively affected by interest rate changes.
1		5),Hoguet(2008) Fufte (1998),Frim	, Naka, Mukherjee oong (2009)	The Negative relationship be stock return because an incr inflation is accompanied by earnings growth and higher	rease in the rate of both lower expected
	INIVERSIT			JM	

Universiti Utara Malaysia

CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

3.0 Introduction

The goal of this study is to find experiential evidence on the connection between bank stock return and macroeconomic variables in the context of ASEAN; and the data and the empirical method applied to carry out this study are explained in this chapter. ASEAN consists of the ten countries which include Malaysia, Indonesia, Singapore, Thailand, Philippines, Vietnam, Brunei, Cambodia, Myanmar, and Laos. However, this study only collects from six out of these ten countries (Malaysia, Indonesia, Singapore, Thailand, Philippines, Vietnam) since the other four countries (Brunei, Cambodia, Myanmar, Laos) do not operate an established stock market.

3.1 Data Descriptions

Universiti Utara Malaysia

A panel data approach is used in this study to find the practical evidence between the link between money supply and bank stock return in ASEAN. The economic and bank data collected from the six countries are a yearly data from the period 2004- 2014.

Country	Sample periods	
Malaysia	2004 - 2014	
Singapore	2004 - 2014	
Thailand	2004 - 2014	
Indonesia	2004 - 2014	
Philippines	2004 - 2014	
Vietnam	2007 - 2014	

Table 3.1 Sample periods used in each country

3.2 Sources of Data

The data for this study was retrieved from the DataStream and World Bank data archive. Bank stock returns were retrieved from the DataStream while macroeconomic variables were retrieved from World Bank data archive. These consist of 58 banks from six countries. The banks are depicted in appendix 1.

Country	Number of banks	
Malaysia	8	
Singapore	3	
Thailand	9	
Indonesia	19	
Philippines	13	
Vietnam	6	

Table 3.2 Number of banks

3.3 Definition of the Variables

3.3.1 Dependent Variable

Bank stock returns: The dependent variable for this study is the bank stock returns.

Previous studies have shown that some important factors determine stock return, however the exact amount cannot be ascertain (Foong et al, 2012). According to Ihsan et al. (2007), the general understanding is that systematic financial and economic news influence stock return. In addition, Butt et al. (2010) also stressed that a number of various direct or indirect factors that predict a significant part of stock returns have an influence on stock returns. The Association of the Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) economies are highly diverse economically, financially and socially in regards to culture, resource endowment, historical background, size and levels of economic development; but they are all market-based economies with a high degree of export dependence which economic integration is rationalized by a large ASEAN market, in the form of ASEAN Free Trade Area (AFTA) (Wongbangpo, 2000). Therefore, the economy performance of these countries is significantly sensitive to the developments within and outside their borders. When economies of these countries turn down, the performance of the stock markets in these associations will be affected (Foong et al., 2012).

3.3.2 Independent Variables

Money Supply: it is the aggregate quantity of money accessible in an economy. Money supply is divided into M1 and M2. In the case of a restrictive monetary policy, reducing the growing level of money supply will lead to a decrease in the supply of fund and expansion of businesses. A restrictive monetary policy would raise market interest rates and increases firm's cost of capital (Foong et al., 2012; Chude & Chude, 2013; Choi & Jtara Malavsia iiversiti Yoon, 2015). However, a decrease in money supply might cause in the lower inflation, hence the lower required rate of return, though the lower interest rate (Foong et al., 2012; Chude & Chude, 2013; Choi & Yoon, 2015). Financial scholars and economist are highly determined to know whether stock return is affected by money supply, and many studies have proven that it does (Keran, 1971; Pesando, 1974, Chen et al., 1986; Fama, 1991; Arestis & Demetriades, 1997; Priestly, 1996; Choudhry, 1996; Omole, 1999; Cassola & Morano, 2004; Van Nieuwerburgh et al., 2006; Gan et al., 2006; Ikoku, 2007; Gay, Jr., 2008; Vazakidis & Adamopoulos, 2009; Maku & Atanda, 2009; Osisanwo & Atanda, 2012).

Any changes in money supply have a close relationship with stock price fluctuation, a direct influence on stock market, and an indirect influence on bond market based on the adjustment of interest rates (Choi & Yoon, 2015). When the decrease in real interest rates is as a result of the increase in money supply, investors will anticipate an increase in stock returns (Christopher et al., 2006, Chude & Chude, 2013). However, stock prices will be affected negatively when money supply increases excessively because it could induce inflation. Therefore, the stock market volatility can be increased by money supply (Choi & Yoon, 2015).

Interest Rate: Interest rate is the price a borrower needs to pay or the time value of money that bank pay for the depositors. Interest rate is used to control the investment, inflation and unemployment and to affect the performance of economy (Cheng, Tzeng, & Kang, 2011). In some years now, the globalization and liberalization of financial markets have triggered exposure to many sources of risk. The influence of interest rates and money supply on banks' stock returns has been of main concern to regulatory authorities, bank managers, investors and academic communities, since the failure of numerous banks has been specifically attributed to the adverse influence of their fluctuations especially interest rates (Kasman, Vardar & Tunc, 2011; Elyasiani & Mansur, 2004).

Several hypotheses and models can theoretically explain the influence of changes in interest rates and exchange rate on bank stock returns (Kasman et al., 2011). Primarily, based on Merton's (1973) Intertemporal capital asset pricing model (ICAPM), interest rate risk can be included in ICAPM as a possible additional market factor, as a change in the interest rate can signify a change in the set of investment opportunity. As a result of

this, investors need extra compensation for risk bearing due to the changes. Similarly, the consequences of APT can give evidence may be interest rate or exchange rate are priced factor in the bank stocks' equilibrium price (Sweeney and Warga, 1986). In regards to equilibrium, interest rate and exchange rate sensitivities exert a significant impact on the common stocks of financial institutions, including banks (Kasman et al., 2011; Yourougou, 1990).

Some authors also explain the sensitivity of banks' interest rate on stock return based on the arrangement of their balance sheet by using the nominal contracting hypothesis (Bach & Ando, 1957; Flannery and James, 1984; French et al., 1983; Kessel, 1956). This hypothesis indicates that the sensitivity of banks' interest rate on stock return is determined by the number of net nominal assets the bank held (Kasman et al., 2011). Banks common stock returns are affected by the effect of wealth distribution triggered by unexpected inflation when banks hold nominal assets and nominal liabilities (Kasman et al., 2011). However, since most financial institutions have not completed the process of internalization, there is a high probability that interest rate sensitivity is different among banks. Thus, the financial operations and nationality of banks will influence the degree of the differences.

In addition, this has been proven when some authors (Lloyd & Shick, 1977; Chance & Lane, 1980; Lynge & Zumwalt, 1980; Flannery & James, 1984; Booth & Officer, 1985; Scott & Peterson, 1986; Bae, 1990) use the two-index model (i.e. Both the market and the interest rate factor) suggested by Stone (1974) to examine the bank equity returns based on the hypothesis of constant variance error term. While some authors (Lloyd & Shick, 1977; Chance & Lane, 1980) find that the index of interest rate has a little contribution to

the process of generating stock returns of financial institutions, some other authors (Lynge & Zumwalt, 1980; Flannery & James, 1984; Booth & Officer, 1985; Scott & Peterson, 1986; Bae, 1990) uniformly find that the index interest rate does not contribut to the process of generating stock returns of financial institutions. According to Akella and Chen (1990), these dissimilarities in results can be traced to the variations sample period and interest rate variables, structural changes in the banking sector, and / or model specification.

Inflation Rate: The presence of inflation in an economy increases the value of the contingent claims. Therefore, the proportionate increases in prices should not affect the actual rate of equity returns. However, Hong (1977) stressed that the monetary assets of a firm such as cash, debt, securities and receivables are independent of changes in the level of price. Hence, changes in inflation only affected the actual part of the firm.

Surprisingly, studies have shown evidence of a negative relationship between nominal stock return and inflation (Fama & Schwert, 1977; Gultekin, 1983). According to Fama (1981), this negative relationship can be explained through two channels. Firstly, the negative inflation –real activity induced the relationship through the money demand theory and the quantity theory of money, and stock returns have positive relationship with real variables such as output and expenditure as elucidated in the finance theory. Secondly, nominal risk-free rate and discount rate may increase through increase in inflation. This will then decreases stock price as stock price may be regarded as the discounted value of the estimated dividends.

Foreign Exchange Rate: The enormous rise in liberalization of capital movements and globalization of trade have position currency value as a determinant factor influencing equity prices and profitability of business (Kim, 2003). The international competitiveness of firms is affected by the fluctuations of exchange rate. It influences firm value since currency values fluctuations leads to the change in future cash flows. The theory of economy suggests that exchange rates fluctuations will lead to change in profitability and investments, reflecting in the financial performance. As a result of this, stock returns are affected by movements in the firm's operations (Agrawal, Srivastav & Srivastava, 2010). This has been proven by previous and often referred research of Dornbusch and Fisher (1980) using a flow oriented model. They stress that the future cash flows, competitiveness and exports of local firms improves when there is depreciation in the value of the local currency. This will lead to increase in prices of stock, as a reaction to the increase in anticipated cash flows. On the other hand, the foreign demand of exporting firms decreases when the local currency appreciates (Cheng, Tzeng & Kang, 2011; Solnik & McLeavey, 2009). This decreases the stock return as well as the profitability. Meanwhile, for a firm that deals in importation its firm value sensitivity to changes in currency is in contrary (Yau & Nieh, 2006).

The volatility of exchange rate can influence both the stock performance of domestic and international firms (Agrrawal et al., 2010). Local firms with not global processes, transactions, liabilities and assets and also face the exposure to changes in exchange rate since the price channels of their input and output, chains of demand and supply or the competitors prices may be influenced by changes in exchange rate.

35

Hypothesis clarified that changes in the money qualities impact organization's benefits and henceforth their stock execution. The hypothetical clarification is clear and may appear glaringly evident on occasion, in spite of the fact that the exact results are blended.

The measurements of dependent variable and independent variables of this study are as follows:

Variable	Measure	Notation	Sources
Dependent variable			<u> </u>
Stock Return	The return on bank stock	R	Data Stream
Independent variable			<u> </u>
Money Supply	Log of money and quasi money	M2	World Bank
Interest Rate	Real interest rate	INT	World Bank
Inflation Rate	Inflation rate	INF	World Bank
Exchange Rate	Exchange rate	EXRATE	World Bank

*Based on yearly data

3.4 Hypotheses Development

The hypotheses of this study are based on the theoretical framework of this study, which is defined as follows:

3.4.1 Money Supply (M2)

The initial studies generally imply that changes in the growth rate of the money supply could serve as a leading indicator of stock price changes, while subsequent studies questioned these findings (Reilly and Brown 2006). Previous studies have also shown evidence that the discrete changes in monetary policy, affect the volatilities of interest rates and money growth, seem to be the best candidate to account for breaks in the volatility of stock returns and therefore to explain the level and discrete jumps in volatility. Furthermore, while stock market volatility also affects macroeconomic volatility, the causality direction is strong from macroeconomic to stock market volatility (Errunza & Hogan, 1998; Flannery & Protopapadakis, 2001; Beltratia & Morana, 2006).

Some studies found a negative relationship between money supply and bank stock returns (Maghayereh, 2002; Humpe & Macmillan, 2007; Abugri, 2008), while some other studies found a positive relationship (Muradoglu & Metin, 1996; Al-Sharkas, 2004; Maysami et al., 2004; Širucek, 2013), and some studies found no relationship (Muradoglu et al., 2001; Ozbay, 2009; Choi & Yoon, 2015). Based on these various findings, it shows there are mixed results on the relationship and the nature of the relationship between money supply and bank stock returns. Therefore, this study predicts a positive relationship between money supply and bank stock return. The hypothesis for this study of the impact of money supply on bank stock returns is:

Hypothesis 1

H1: There is significant relationship between money supply and bank stock returns. H_0 : $_1 = 0$ H_1 : $_1 = 0$

3.4.2 Interest rate

However, empirical studies provided that there is substantial evidence for banks' stock returns exhibiting statistically significant negative relationship with interest rates variations (Fama, 1981; Geske & Roll, 1983; Flannery & James, 1984; Brewer & Lee, 1985; Scott & Peterson, 1986; Kane & Unal, 1988; Saunders & Yourougou, 1990; Kwan, 1991; Akella & Greenbaum, 1992; Choi et al., 1992).

It has been stated earlier that interest rate is used to control the investment, inflation and unemployment and to affect the performance of the economy (Cheng et al, 2011). Worthington (2002) examined the relationship between interest rate bank stock returns in Australia by dividing the interest rate into three parts which include short, medium and long-term. The findings indicate that interest rate-risk is a significant determinant of bank stock returns, alongside short and medium term interest rate volatility and levels. However, there is no significant relationship between long-term interest rates and bank stock returns. Humpe and Macmillan (2007) also found that both Japan and US stock prices have a negative relationship with long term interest rate.

It has been proven that most study on interest rate and bank stock return is consistent with the theory as the studies for both developed and emerging markets report negative relationship between stock returns and interest rate. Therefore, this study predicts a negative relationship between interest rate and bank stock returns. The hypothesis for this study of the influence of interest rate on bank stock returns is:

Hypothesis 2

H2: There is a significant relationship between interest rate and bank stock returns.

H₀: $_2 = 0$

H₁: 2 0

3.4.3 Inflation Rate

There are mixed findings regarding the impact of inflation on stock returns. The study of Hoguet (2008) found a negative correlation between stock return and inflation, implicating that higher inflation rate reduces expected growth earnings and increases required real rates of returns. Many findings also find negative relationship (Maghayereh, 2002; Al-Sharkas, 2004; Nishat & Shaheen, 2004). In contrast, some studies found positive correlation between inflation and stock returns (Firth, 1979; Maysami et al., 2004; Tweneboah, 2008). Moreover, some set of studies also found insignificant relationship between stock returns and inflation (Ozturk, 2008; Tursoy et al., 2008). Due to this argument, this study predicts a negative relationship between inflation and bank stock returns. The hypothesis for this study of the impact of inflation rate of bank stock returns is:

Hypothesis 3

H3: There is a significant relationship between inflation rate and bank stock returns.

H₀: $_3 = 0$ H₁: $_3 = 0$

3.4.4 Exchange Rate

Grammatikos et al. (1986) and Chamberlain et al. (1997) were the initial studies that focused specifically on the exposure of foreign exchange rate on banks' stock return. Their findings showed that foreign exchange exposure influences US banks' returns. Chamberlin et al. (1997) relate the sensitivities of exchange rate of Japanese banks with US banks through the use of both monthly and daily data. They revealed that a significant part of the stock returns of US banks seemed to be sensitive to the changes in exchange rate; while only a smaller number of stock returns of Japanese banks are sensitive to changes in exchange rate.

Kasman et al. (2011) examine the influence of both changes in exchange rate and interest rate on the stock returns of banks in Turkey applying the GARCH and OLS estimation models. Their findings showed that changes in exchange rate and interest rate significantly and negatively influence the conditional stock returns of banks. Their result also implies that the volatility of exchange rate and interest rate are the main determinants of the volatility of the stock returns of banks. Based on this argument, this study predicts a negative relationship between foreign exchange rate and bank stock returns. The hypothesis for this study for the impact of foreign exchange rate on bank stock returns is:

Hypothesis 4

H4: There is a significant relationship between foreign exchange rate and bank stock returns.

H_o: $_4 = 0$

H₁: 4 0

3.5 Summarizing of the Hypotheses

- 1. There is a significant relationship between money supply and bank stock returns.
- 2. There is a significant relationship between interest rate and bank stock returns.
- 3. There is a significant relationship between the inflation rate and bank stock returns.
- 4. There is a significant relationship between foreign exchange rate and bank stock returns.

3.6 Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for this study is depicted below in figure 3.1.



In order to test the proposed hypotheses, a model was analyzed. The following model was estimated for the hypotheses:

$$y = {}_{o} + {}_{1}X_{1} + {}_{2}X_{2} + {}_{3}X_{3} + {}_{4}X_{4} + e_{it}$$

$$R_{it} = {}_{o} + {}_{1}M2_{it} + {}_{2}INT_{it} + {}_{3}INF_{it} + {}_{4}EXRATE + e_{it}$$
(1)
$$o = \text{ the constant term}$$

1, 2, 3, 4 = coefficient of parameters

Where:

 R_{it} = the return on the bank stock at time t

 $M2_t =$ the money supply at time t

 $INT_t = the interest rate at time t$

 INF_t = the inflation rate at time t

 $EXRATE_t = the exchange rate at time t$

 μ_t = the residual error of the regression

3.8 Empirical Method

This section deals with the data analysis techniques employed to solve the research question of this study. The data will be analyzed based on the several methods using the

Universiti Utara Malaysia

E-views program version 8.1.

I. Correlation

II. Descriptive statistics

III. Panel OLS

IV. Unit root test

V. Granger causality

3.8.1 Correlation

It is often essential to examine the correlation between two or more fiscal variables. There are several ways to observe how sets of data are correlated. Two of the most useful means are scattered plots and correlation analysis.

In statistical terms, dependence are correlation between two casual variables. Correlation refers to any relations involving dependence. Correlations are valuable because they canister predictive relationship.

3.8.2 Panel Least Squares Regression

This study regression analysis applies panel Ordinary Least Square estimation. The Ordinary Least Square method is more suitable since it reduces normality problem in models.

3.8.3 Unit Root Test

The Unit root test has become widely popular over the past few years to test whether the data are stationary or not. They are many ways to analyze unit root test. Will use in the study test type (common root- Levin, Lin, Chu and common root- Im, Pesaran , Shin) and the test use level and 1st difference for both. The result can be rejected if it is found to be negative and significantly different from zero. Conversely, if accepted the null hypothesis, the variable is non-stationary and contains a unit root in the variable.

3.8.4 Granger causality Test

Since the stationary test of the variables has been carried out, Granger (1969) causality test is used to analyze the causality direction of bank stock returns and its determinants (inflation rate, interest rate, money supply and exchange rate).

3.9 Summary

This chapter has been able to explain and describe vividly the variables used for this study, depicts the theoretical framework and the measurements for the variables. This chapter also explains the specification of the model and the method to apply. It finally expatriates on the hypotheses of the study.



CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.0 Introduction

The analysis and findings on the empirical relationship between money supply and bank stock returns in ASEAN (Malaysia, Singapore, Thailand, Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam) is focused on in this chapter. Section 4.1 deals with the data and summary statistics of the variables. Section 4.2 focuses on the correlation matrix of the variables, while section 4.3 expresses the findings of the regression analysis, section 4.4 expresses the findings of the unit root test, section 4.5 findings of the Granger causality tests. Lastly, the discussion of the findings on the empirical relationship between money supply and bank stock returns in ASEAN is elucidated in section 4.6.

4.1 Descriptive Statistics

Universiti Utara Malaysia

The analysis and findings of this study begin with the descriptive statistics. The summary of the descriptive statistics of bank stock returns, money supply, interest rate, inflation rate, and foreign exchange rate is shown in Table 4.1 below.

1 able 4.1. k	Summar	y of the des	cripuve sta	usues			
	Ν	Mean	Std. Dev.	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Variance
R	612	4.4326	2.6207	4.0525	-1.5606	11.1026	6.8678
M2	612	31.4764	3.3446	29.9242	26.0559	36.1527	11.1860
INT	612	3.0741	3.0007	3.4771	-5.6163	11.7825	9.0043
INF	612	5.1403	3.2460	4.6473	-0.8457	23.1163	10.5366
EXRATE	612	5.4514	3.3793	3.7998	0.2000	9.9584	11.4199

Table 4.1:	Summary	of	the d	lescri	ptive	statistics

The descriptive statistics for the dependent and the independent variables is depicted above in Table 4.1. The table shows that bank stock returns (R) of ASEAN banks for these periods under review is averagely 443% (4.4326); implying that ASEAN banks generate high stock returns during this period which may lead to high conversion of assets into earnings and high return of shareholders' wealth.

In regards to the independent variables, there is huge money supply (M2) among ASEAN economies in this period with an average of 315% (31.4764); while the average interest rate (INT) for ASEAN economies for this period is 3.07% implying a moderate lending interest rate among ASEAN economies. The average inflation rate (INF) is 5.14% implying that inflation is averagely low and stable in ASEAN economies during this period. The foreign exchange rate depicts an average of 5.45%, implying that the average increase of local currency of ASEAN economies to one United States dollar (\$1) is 5.45% during this period.

4.2 Correlation

Table 4.2:	Correlatio	n Matrix			
	R	M2	INT	INF	EXRATE
R	1.0000				
M2	0.3851	1.0000			
INT	-0.0727*	0.0299**	1.0000		
INF	0.3626	0.5874	-0.3914	1.0000	
EXRATE	0.6074	0.8973	-0.0378**	0.6273	1.0000

Note: **, * indicate significant at 5% and 10% respectively

Table 4.3: Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) for Multicollinearity test

M2	5.381
INT	1.345
INF	2.178
EXRATE	5.573

The correlation among variables is depicted in Table 4.2 above. The coefficient of correlation shows the level of the linear correlation that exists between the variables. Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) were conducted to test for Multicollinearity in the independent variables. The result is depicted in Table 4.3, showing the largest VIF to be 5.573 (EXRATE), and indicating the absent of multicollinearity in the sample as the largest VIF is below 10 (Hair et al., 2006).

Universiti Utara Malaysia

4.3 Regression Analysis

The results of the panel data regression on the relationship between money supply and bank stock return are depicted in table 4.4 below:

return	-			
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.
С	362.3703	459.7012	0.788273	0.4308
M2	-2.31000	2.81000	-8.232842	0.0000*
INT	0.133802	66.18992	0.002021	0.9984
INF	-275.7361	77.64828	-3.55109	0.0004*
EXRATE	1.074254	0.070441	15.25046	0.0000*
R-squared (R^2)	0.437107			
Adjusted R ²	0.433398			
F-statistic	117.8396			
Prob (F-statistic)	0.000000			
AE				
n E TY	612			
Note: * significant at 1% le	vel			_
Elin mar Bill	🖉 Unive	rsiti Uta	ra Malaysi	ia
$y = _{0} + _{1}X_{1} + _{2}X_{2} +$	$_{3}X_{3} + _{4}X_{4} + _{i}$	i		
$\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{it}} = \mathbf{o} + 1\mathbf{M}2_{\mathrm{i,t}} + 2\mathbf{I}$	$NT_{i,t} + _{3}INF_{i,t} +$	+ 4EXRATE +	ei	
R = 362.37 - 2.3M2 +	0.133INT - 275	$74INE \pm 1.074I$	EVPATE	
	, ,.		Sector W	

Table 4.4: Regression Analysis of the macroeconomic variables on bank stock return

Se (459.70) (2.810) (66.189) (77.648) (0.070) t-stat (0.7883) (-8.2328) (0.002) (-3.5510) (15.2504)

Prob. (0.4308) (0.0000) (0.9984) (0.0004) (0.0000)

n = 612 $R^2 = 0.437$ Adj $R^2 = 0.433$ This mean:

- When the M_2 increase by 1 % unit, stock return will decrease by 2.31000.
- When the interest rate increase by 1 % unit, stock return will increase by 0.133802.
- When the inflation increase by 1 % unit, stock return will decrease by 275.7361.
- When the ex rate increase by 1 % unit, stock return will increase by 1.074254.

The regression analysis showed that the F-statistics of the model are significant, implying that there is a relationship between the dependent variable (bank stock returns) and the sets of independent variables (money supply, interest rates, inflation rate, and foreign exchange rate). The value of the adjusted R² indicates that the regression model that comprises of money supply, interest rate, inflation rate, and foreign exchange rate explicate 43 percent (0.433398) variations in bank stock returns. Furthermore, the regression results show that all the independent variables are significant to bank stock return except for interest rate which is found to be insignificant. Among the three significant variables, exchange rate shows the highest coefficient value of beta (1.074254); implying the most robust contribution in elucidating the dependent variable. Though, it shows that both money supply and inflation rate have a negative relationship with bank stock return.

	Constant	M2	INT	INF	FOREX	\mathbf{R}^2	Prob (F- Statistics
Malaysia	-2.460851	-7.67000	-0.182581	-0.457338	-13272.74	0.3566	0.000
	0.699	0.000***	0.1139	0.1965	0.7576		
Singapore	12.49722	1.06000	-0.117092	0.055955	-1.868065	0.0739	0.695
	0.764	0.726	0.846	0.932	0.932		
Thailand	-41.34957	5.35000	2.082804	1.710048	-0.475153	0.1065	0.030
	0.608	0.089*	0.778	0.468	0.807		
Indonesia	-131.8293	7.21000	-3.431673	-9.700355	-0.020723	0.1121	0.000
	0.9138	0.000***	0.947	0.888	0.855		
Philippines	13.24992	6.60000	-3.336708	-4.909243	0.625117	0.3396	0.000
	0.717	0.003***	0.372	0.235	0.581		
Vietnam	132440.5	3.11000	-234.9537	-1.572234	-6.174746	0.3979	0.001
	0.000	0.304	0.886	0.999	0.004***		

 Table 4.5 Panel OLS Regression for ASEAN (Individual countries)

Note: ***, **, * indicate significant at 1%, 5% and 10% respectively.

Table 4.5 shows the regression analysis of each ASEAN countries used for this study applying OLS estimation. Based on the table, money supply (M2) has a positive influence on the bank stock returns in all the countries except for Vietnam and Singapore that are insignificantly related. It shows 1% significant level in Malaysia, Indonesia and Philippines while 10% significant level in Thailand. Foreign exchange rate (FOREX) only influences the bank stock return of Vietnam at 1% significant level. Meanwhile, other macroeconomic variables such as interest rates, inflation and foreign exchange rate are insignificant to the bank stock returns of each country. This implies that only money supply explains the largest effect of macroeconomic variables on bank stock returns in each country except Singapore. Government of Malaysia impost more capital control as compared to other developed countries.

4.4 Unit Root Tests

	Levin, Lin,ChU		Im,Pesaran , Shn		
Variables	Level	Difference	Level	Difference	
M2	5.1794	-4.3995	12.8352	2.2908	
	1.0000	0.0000***	1.0000	0.9890	
Interest Rate	-3.2990	-27.6577	-1.1208	-14.9778	
	0.0005***	0.0000***	0.1312	0.0000***	
Inflation	-5.9831	-21.4047	-2.2864	-16.2981	
.,	0.0000***	0.0000***	0.0111**	0.0000***	
F EX. Rate	-13.3697	-18.7171	-6.2833	-7.7936	
	0.0000***	0.0000***	0.0000***	0.000***	

Note: ***, **, * indicate significant at 1%, 5% and 10% respectively.

The unit root tests under Levin, Lin, Chu show that all unit root test of the macroeconomic variables are significant at 1% significant level except for money supply (M2) under level that is insignificant. Meanwhile, the unit root tests using Im, Pesaran, Shin show that unit root tests of the independent variables are 1% significant under difference except for money supply that is insignificant. Under level, only inflation and foreign exchange rate that is significant at 5% and 1% level respectively. Both money supply and interest rate are insignificant under level.

4.5 Granger Causality Tests

Lags	Null Hypothesis (nh)	F-Statistics	Probability	= 0.05
2	M2 does Granger Cause Stock Return	38.4331	0.0000	Reject
2	Stock Return does Granger Cause M2	74.2387	0.0000	nh
2	Inflation Rate does Granger Cause Stock Return	11.7728	0.0000	Reject
2	Stock Return does Granger Cause Inflation Rate	3.16055	0.0000	nh
2	Interest Rate does Granger Cause Stock Return	0.39046	0.0000	Reject
2	Stock Return does Granger Cause Interest Rate	2.56860	0.0000	nh
2	FOREX Rate does Granger Cause Stock Return	8.66842	0.0000	Reject
2	Stock Return does Granger Cause FOREX Rate	1.87662	0.0000	nh
2	Inflation Rate does Granger Cause M2	81.5551	0.0000	Reject
2	M2 does Granger Cause Inflation Rate	25.2047	0.0000	nĥ
2	Interest Rate does Granger Cause M2	57.7006	0.0000	Reject
2	M2 does Granger Cause Interest Rate	16.1652	0.0000	nh
2	FOREX Rate does Granger Cause M2	97.8786	0.0000	Reject
2	M2 does Granger Cause FOREX Rate	93.3786	0.0000	nh
2	Interest Rate does Granger Cause Inflation Rate	43.6359	0.0000	Reject
2	Inflation Rate does Granger Cause Interest Rate	36.2883	0.0000	nh
2	FOREX Rate does Granger Cause Inflation Rate	54.1336	0.0000	Reject
2	Inflation Rate does Granger Cause FOREX Rate	29.0517	0.0000	nh
2	FOREX Rate does Granger Cause Interest Rate	22.6742	0.0000	Reject
2	Interest Rate does Granger Cause FOREX Rate	57.1127	0.0000	nh
	*nh (null hypothesis)			

Table 4.7 Granger Causality Tests

Universiti Utara Malaysia

Table 4.7 represents the empirical results of the Granger causality test between bank stock return and macroeconomic variables. There exists at least one-way causality from money supply to bank stock returns. It was found that money supply caused bank stock returns. Therefore, money supply is not an indicator of bank stock return in ASEAN. In addition, bank stock return and interest rate indicating that an increase in interest rate does not increase bank stock returns. There is unidirectional causality between bank stock return and macroeconomic variables.

4.6 Discussion of Findings

4.6.1 Money supply and bank stock return

The money supply has a negative significant relationship with bank stock returns of ASEAN. The results imply that the lower the money supply, the lower is the bank stock returns. The plausible reasons for this is that change in money supply is a major sign of change in stock price because it has a direct influence on stock market and an indirect influence on bond market based on the adjustment of interest rates. When the increase in money supply leads to decrease in real interest rates, an increase in stock returns will be expected. However, stock prices will be affected negatively when the money supply increases excessively because it could induce inflation. Therefore, the stock market volatility can be increased by money supply.

Furthermore, the increase in money supply implies availability of excess liquidity for stock purchase, ultimately leading to higher stock prices because of the higher demand of both real good and common stocks markets. However, as Fisher's equation assumed that money supply could increase inflation and then increases the nominal interest rate; the increase in interest rate results in a higher expected rate of return, and then lower stock price. This finding is in line with the studies of Maghayereh (2002), Humpe and Macmillan (2007) and Abugri (2008). Thus, the hypothesis that assumed a significant relationship between money supply and bank stock return is rejected.

4.6.2 Interest rate and bank stock return

Interest rate is insignificant with bank stock returns of ASEAN. This implies that there is no relationship between interest rate and bank stock return. The plausible reason for this is that interest rate sensitivity does not exert a significant impact on the common stock of the banks, which could be caused by the effect of wealth distribution triggered by unexpected inflation when banks hold nominal assets and nominal liabilities. This result is consistent with the study of Booth and Officer (1985), Lynge and Zummwalt (1980), Scott and Peteerson (1986), and Bae (1990). Therefore, the hypothesis that suggests a significant relationship between interest and bank stock return is rejected.

4.6.3 Inflation rate and bank stock return

Inflation has a significant relationship with bank stock returns of ASEAN. This indicates that the lower the inflation rate, the higher the bank stock returns. The plausible reason for this is that negative inflation –real activity induced the relationship through the money demand theory and the quantity theory of money, since stock returns have insignificant relationship with real variables such as output and expenditure as elucidated in the finance theory. Low inflation rate decreases both nominal risk-free rate and discount rate, which will then increase stock price since stock price could be regarded as the discounted value of the estimated dividends.

Universiti Utara Malaysia

This result is consistent with the findings of Fama and Schwert (1977), Fama (1980), Gultekin (1983), Maghayereh (2002), Al-Sharkas (2004), and Nishat and Shaheen (2004). Thus, the hypothesis that proposed a significant relationship between Inflation rate and bank stock return is accepted.

4.6.4 Foreign exchange rate and bank stock return

Foreign exchange rate as a positive significant relationship with bank stock returns of ASEAN. This implies that the foreign exchange exposures of ASEAN banks influence their stock returns since most part of the stock returns are sensitive to the changes in exchange rate during the periods. This finding is consistent with the study of Agrawal et al. (2010). Therefore, the hypothesis that stated a negative significant relationship between Inflation rate and bank stock return is rejected.

Universiti Utara Malaysia

Table 4.8 shows the summary of the hypotheses testing findings of money supply,

interest rate, inflation rate and foreign exchange rate on bank stock returns.

Table 4.8: Summary of Hypotheses

HYPOTHESES	BANK STOCK RETURNS	
H1: There is a significant relationship between money	Hypothesis is not supported	
supply and bank stock returns.		
H2: There is a significant relationship between interest	Hypothesis is not supported	
rate and bank stock returns.		
H3: There is a significant relationship between	Hypothesis is supported	
inflation rate and bank stock returns.		
H4: There is a significant relationship between foreign	Hypothesis is not supported	
exchange rate and bank stock returns.		

4.7 Concluding Remarks

The findings of this study are explained in this chapter. It elucidates on the findings of the descriptive statistics of the variables, correlation matrix, panel data analysis, and the regression analysis. Furthermore, this chapter clearly construes the outcomes of the regression through discussion of the findings.

CHAPTER FIVE

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

5.0 Introduction

The overall conclusion on the money supply and bank stock returns is provided in this chapter. The chapter starts with the overview of the study and followed by the contribution of the study to various interested parties. Lastly, limitations are elucidated and suggestion for future studies is deliberated.

5.1 Overview of the Research Process

This study investigates money supply and bank stock returns in ASEAN through a panel data approach. The data used for this study is the World Bank data archive and the DataStream. The sample covers 58 listed banks in ASEAN. The period of study is from 2004-2014, resulting in 612 firm-years. This study found that money supply has a negative significant relationship with bank stock returns of ASEAN, indicating that the lower the money supply, the lower is the bank stock returns in other hand, when the money supply increase by 1 unit the bank stock return will decrease about 2.3 units. This indicates that changes in money supply are a major signal for change in stock price because it has a direct influence on stock market and an indirect influence on bond market based on the adjustment of interest rates. Interest rate is insignificant with bank stock returns of ASEAN, implying that there is no relationship between interest rate and bank stock return. This shows that interest rate sensitivity does not exert a significant impact on the common stock of the banks, which could be caused by the effect of wealth

distribution triggered by unexpected inflation when banks hold nominal assets and nominal liabilities. Inflation has a significant negative relationship with bank stock returns of ASEAN, indicating that the lower the inflation rate, the higher the bank stock returns. The reason is that negative inflation –real activity induced the relationship through the money demand theory and the quantity theory of money, since stock returns have a positive relationship with real variables such as output and expenditure as elucidated in the finance theory. Foreign exchange rate as a positive significant relationship with bank stock returns of ASEAN. This implies that the foreign exchange exposures of ASEAN banks influence their stock returns since most part of the stock returns are sensitive to the changes in exchange rates during the periods.

5.2 Implication of the study

Universiti Utara Malaysia

5.2.1 Body of Knowledge

The result of this empirical research is useful to other researchers. It is advantageous due to its contribution to the body of knowledge, especially on the association between macroeconomic variables and bank stock return. This study also provides evidence of the relationship between money supply, interest rate, inflation rate and foreign exchange rate with bank stock returns in ASEAN.
5.2.2 Policy Implications

The research is also of significance to policy makers want research findings that are robust (and the methodology is relatively uncontested), are accessible to wider audiences, more new ideas, more willingness to question inherited ways of doing things, better use of evidence and research in policy making and better focus on policies that will deliver long-term goals. This resource studies is meant to help connect policymakers with tools, information, and insights to enhance financial education efforts. In ASEAN and other countries as it will enhance policies formulation relating to the management of macroeconomic variables in banking, by implementing the execution of an efficient risk management for banks in order to create measures that will prevent high inflation, bankruptcy, high foreign exchange rate, financial distress, shortage of money supply and unemployment, and control the investment that will affect the economic performance.

Universiti Utara Malaysia

5.2.3 Practical implications

It is of significance to banking practitioners since it shows the value of macroeconomic variables to bank stock returns, and facilitates their improvement on the practice of risk management and involve in various off-balance sheet transactions. ASEAN banks should always embark on improving risk measurement systems and comprehensive practices for managing their risks, mostly during fast development in new markets or products. Failure of banks in adhering to simple principles of risk management, it could affect their evaluation macroeconomic factors that may hinder their improvement in bank stock returns.

5.3 Limitations of the Study

This study is restricted to the macroeconomic variables and bank stock returns of banks in ASEAN from the period 2004-2014. However, data of some countries are not included in the data because of lack of stock markets in the countries. These countries include: Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Laos and Myanmar. Moreover, most of the data collected from all the countries started from 2004 except for data from Vietnam that started from 2007 because of non-availability of bank stock return from previous years.

5.4 Suggestions for Future Research

Future studies on macroeconomic factors and bank stock returns should try to focus on the influence of macroeconomic factors on the stock returns of other types of banks such as Islamic banks and investment banks. Furthermore, future research can also concentrate on other macroeconomic factors such as crude oil rate, market index and so on. Moreover, future studies may also examine this relationship from other regions or countries, so as to show more reliable findings on the association between macroeconomic variables and bank stock returns.

<u>REFERENCES</u>

- Abdullah, D. A., & Hayworth, S. C. (1993). Macroeconometrics of stock price fluctuations. Quarterly Journal of Business and Economics, 50-67.
- Abugri, B. A. (2008). Empirical relationship between macroeconomic volatility and stock returns: Evidence from Latin American markets. International Review of Financial Analysis, 17(2), 396-410.
- Adam, A. M., & Tweneboah, G. (2008). Macroeconomic factors and stock market movement: evidence from Ghana. Available at SSRN 1289842. [Online] Available at: <u>http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1289842</u>.
- Agrawal, G., Srivastav, A.K. & Srivastava, A. (2010). A study of exchange rates movement and stock market volatility. International Journal of Business and Management. 5 (12). 62-73.
- Al-Abadi, M. I., & Al-Sabbagh, O. W. (2006). Interest Rate Sensitivity, Market Risk, Inflation and Bank Stock Returns. Journal of Accounting, Business & Management, 13.
- Al-Sharkas, A. (2004). The dynamic relationship between macroeconomic factors and the Jordanian stock market. International Journal of Applied Econometrics and Quantitative Studies, 1, 1., pp. 97-114 [Online] Available at: http://www.usc.es/~economet/reviews/ijaeqs115.pdf.
- Al-Shboul, M. & Anwar, S. (2014). Foreign exchange rate exposure: evidence from Canada. Review of Financial Economics. 23. 18-29.
- Al-Shubiri, F.N. (2010). Analysis the determinants of market stock price movements: an empirical study of Jordanian commercial banks. International Journal of Business and Management. 5(10). 137-147.
- Aray, H. & Gardeazabal, J. (2010). Going multinational under exchange rate uncertainty. Journal of International Money and Finance. 29. 1171-1191.
- Arestis, P., & Demetriades, P. (1997). Financial development and economic growth: Assessing the evidence*. The Economic Journal, 107(442), 783-799.

Ariff, M. (1996). Effects of Financial Liberalization on Four Southeast Asian Financial Markets, 1973–94. ASEAN Economic Bulletin, 325-338.

Asia Matters for America. http://www.asiamattersforamerica.org/asean

- Asprem, M. (1989). Stock prices, asset portfolios and macroeconomic variables in ten European countries. Journal of Banking and Finance. 13. 589-612.
- Bae, S. C. (1990). Interest rate changes and common stock returns of financial institutions: Revisited. Journal of Financial Research, 13(1), 71-79.
- Beltratti, A., & Morana, C. (2006). Breaks and persistency: macroeconomic causes of stock market volatility. Journal of econometrics, 131(1), 151-177. [Online] Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/03044076
- Biers, D. (1998). Crash of '97: how the financial crisis is reshaping Asia. Far Eastern Economic Review.
- Booth, J., Officer, D.T., 1985. Expectations, interest rates, and commercial bank stocks. Journal of Financial Research 8, 51–58.
- Butt, B. Z, Rehman, K. U., Khan, M. A., & Safwan, N. (2010). Do economic factors influence stock returns? A firmand industry levelanalysis. African Journal of Business Management, 4 (5), 583-593.
- Cagli, E. C., U. Halc and D. Taskin, (2010). Testing long run relationship between stock market and macroeconomic variables in the presence of structural breaks: TheTurkish case. International research journal of finance and economics, 48. ISSN: 1450-2887.
- Can Inci, A. & Soo Lee, B. (2014). Dynamic relations between stock returns and exchange rate changes. European Financial Management. 20 (1). 71-106.
- Caporale, G. M., Hunter, J., & Ali, F. M. (2014). On the linkages between stock prices and exchange rates: Evidence from the banking crisis of 2007–2010. International Review of Financial Analysis, 33, 87-103. Chicago
- Cassola, N., & Morana, C. (2004). Monetary policy and the stock market in the euro area. Journal of Policy Modeling, 26(3), 387-399. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpolmod.2004.03.012

- Chance, D. M., & Lane, W. R. (1980). A re-examination of interest rate sensitivity in the common stocks of financial institutions. Journal of Financial Research 3, 49–55.
- Chen, J., Naylor, M. & Lu, X. (2004). Some insights into the foreign exchange pricing puzzle: evidence from a small open economy. Pacific-Basin Finance Journal. 12. 41-64.
- Chen, N. F., Richard, R & Ross, S. A. (1986). Economic forces and the stock market. The Journal of Business, 59(3), 383-403.
- Chen,M. H., Kim, W. G., & Jeong, K. H. (2005). The impact of macroeconomic and nonmacroeconomic forces on hotel stock returns. International Journal of Hospitality Management, 24 (2), 243-258.
- Cheng, M. H., Tzeng, Z. C., & Kang. W. L. (2011). The impact of non-macroeconomic event on Taiwan electronic industry stock index returns. Global Economy and Finance Journal, 4 (1), 80-101.
- Cheong, L. M. (2005, May). Globalisation and the operation of monetary policy in Malaysia. In Participants in the meeting (p. 209).
- Chia, S. Y., & Pacini, M. (1997). ASEAN in the new Asia: issues and trends. Singapore: Institute of Southeast Asia Studies.
- Chkili, W. & Nguyen, D.K. (2014). Exchange rate movements and stock market returns in a regime- switching environment: Evidence for BRICS countries. Research in International Business and Finance. 31. 46-56.
- Choi, D., & Jen, F. C. (1991). The relation between stock returns and short-term interest rates. Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting, 1(1), 75-89.
- Choi, K. H., & Yoon, S. M. (2015). The Effect of Money Supply on the Volatility of Korean Stock Market. Modern Economy, 6(05), 535.
- Choudhry, T. (1996). Real stock prices and the long-run money demand function: evidence from Canada and the USA. Journal of International Money and Finance 15:1-17.

- Chude, N.P. & Chude, D.I.(2013). Effect of Money Supply on the Stock Market Returns in Nigeria. Journal of Business and Organizational Development, 5(2).
- Devakula, M. R. P. (2001) .Thailand.s Monetary Policy Its Obstacles and Challenges,. BIS Review, 81.
- Erbaykal, E., Okuyan, H. A., Kadioglu, O. Real (2008), "Macro Economic Variables and Stock Prices: Test of Proxy Hypothesis In Turkey, Yeditepe International Research Conference on Business Strategies, Istanbul, Turkey, June 13-15, 2008 [Online] Available at: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1321678
- Errunza, V., & Hogan, K. (1998). Macroeconomic determinants of European stock market volatility. European Financial Management, 4(3), 361-377. [Online] Availableat: <u>http://www3.interscience.wiley.com/cgibin/fulltext/119135605/PDFSTART</u>
- Fama, E. & Schwert, W. (1977). Asset returns and inflation. Journal of Financial Economics, 115-146.
- Fama, E. F. (1991). Efficient capital markets: II. The journal of finance, 46(5), 1575-1617.
- Fama, E.F. (1981). Stock returns, real activity, inflation, and money. American Economy Review, 71, 545–565.
- Firth, M. (1979). The relationship between stock market returns and rates of inflation. The Journal of Finance, 34(3), 743-749. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/2327440</u>.
- Flannery, M. (1981). Market interest rates and commercial bank profitability: an empirical investigation. The Journal of Finance 34, 1085–1101.
- Flannery, M. J., & Protopapadakis, A. A. (2002). Macroeconomic factors do influence aggregate stock returns. Review of Financial Studies, 15(3), 751-782.
 [Online] Available at: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=314261
- Flannery, M., James, C. (1984). The effect of interest rate changes on the common stock returns of financial institutions. The Journal of Finance 39, 1141–1153.

- Flannery, M.J., Hameed, A.S. & Harjes, R.H. (1997). Asset pricing, time-varying risk premia and interest rate risk. Journal of Banking & Finance 21, 315–335.
- Foong, L.K., Lok, T.W. & Hoon, Y.Y. (2012). The impact of macroeconomic variables on banks' stock returns: evidence from Malaysia. BSc. Degree research project. Universiti Tunku AbdulRahman Malaysia.
- Frimpong, J. M. (2009). Economic forces and the stock market in a developing economy: Cointegration evidence from ghana. European Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Sciences, 16, 123-135.
- Gan, C., Lee, M., Yong, H. H. A., & Zhang, J. (2006). Macroeconomic variables and stock market interactions: New Zealand evidence. Investment Management and Financial Innovations, 3(4), 89-101.
- Gay Jr, R. D. (2008). Effect of Macroeconomic Variables on Stock Market Returns for Four Emerging Economies: A Vector Regression Model for Brazil, Russia, India, and China. ProQuest.
- Gilkenson, J., & Smith, S. (1992). The convexity trap: pitfalls in financing mortgage portfolios and related securities. Economic Review. Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, 14–27.
- Gultekin, N. B. (1983). Stock market returns and inflation: evidence from other countries. Journal of Finance, 49-65.
- Grammatikos, T., Saunders, A., & Swary, I. (1986). Returns and risks of US bank foreign currency activities. The Journal of Finance, 41(3), 671-682.
- Günsel, N., & Çukur, S. (2007). The effects of macroeconomic factors on the London stock returns: a sectoral approach. International Research Journal of Finance and Economics, 10, 140-152.
- Hoguet, G. R. (2008). Inflation and Stock Price, State Street Global Advisors" [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.ssga.com/library/esps/Inflation_and_Stock_Prices_George_Hoguet_8.</u> 21.08rev3CCRI1221060800.pdf

- Humpe, A., & Macmillan, P. (2007). Can macroeconomic variables explain long term stock market movements. A Comparison of the US and Japan CDMA Working Paper, (07/20).
- Ihsan, H., Ahmad, E., Ihsan, M. & Sadia, H. (2007). Relationship of economic and financial variables with behavior of stock returns, Journal of Economic Cooperation, 28 (2), 1-24.
- Ikoku, A.E. (2007). The Impact of Inflation on Stock Market Returns in Nigeria: Business Day Newspaper, March 3, 2007.
- Kandir, S. Y. (2008), "Macroeconomic Variables, Firm Characteristics and Stock Returns: Evidence from Turkey", *International Research Journal of Finance and Economics*, Issue 16,. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.eurojournals.com/Pages%20from%20irjfe16serkan.pdf</u>
- Karamustafa, O., & Kucukkale, Y. (2003). Long run relationships between stock market returns and macroeconomic performance: evidence from Turkey (No. 0309010). EconWPA.
- Kasman, S., Vardar, G. & Tunc, G. (2011). The impact of interest rate and exchange rate volatility on banks' stock returns and volatility: Evidence from Turkey.
- Keran, M. W. (1971). Expectations, money and the stock market. *Federal Reserve Bank* of St.Louis Review, 16-31.
- Kim, C., and J. Lee (2004). Exchange Rate Regimes and Monetary Independence in East Asia, in Exchange Rate Regimes in East Asia, ed. by G. de Brouwer, and M. Kawai, pp. 302.319. Routledge, London.
- Kurihara, Y. (2006). The relationship between exchange rate and stock prices during the quantitative easing policy in Japan. *International Journal of Business*. 11 (4). 375-386.

- Lamberte, M. B. (2002). Central Banking in the Philippines: Then, Now and the Future, PIDS Discussion Paper Series 2002-10, PIDS.
- Laurenceson, J. (2002). The impact of stock markets on china's economic development: some preliminary assessments (No. Discussion Paper No 302).
- Li, L., Narayan, P. K., &Zheng, X. (2010). An analysis of inflation and stock return for the UK. Journal of International Financial Market, Institution & Money, 20, 519-532.
- Lintner, J. (1965). The Valuation of Risk Assets and the Selection of Risky Investment in Stock Portfolio and Capital Budgets. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 47 (1), 13-37.
- Lloyd, W. P., & Shick, R. A. (1977). A test of Stone's two-index model of returns. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, 12(03), 363-376.
- Lynge, M. J., & Zumwalt, J. K. (1980). An empirical study of the interest rate sensitivity of commercial bank returns: A multi-index approach. Journal of Financial and Quantitative analysis, 15(03), 731-742.
- Maghyereh, A. I. (2002). Causal relations among stock prices and macroeconomic variables in the small, open economy of Jordan. Open Economy of Jordan.
 [Online] Available at:
 http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=317539
- Maku, E.O. and Atanda, A.A. (2009). Does Macroeconomic Indicators Exert Shock on the Nigerian Capital Market? Paper No. 17917, Munish Publication, University of Demark.

- Maysami, R. C., Howe, L. C., & Hamzah, M. A. (2004). Relationship between macroeconomic variables and stock market indices: cointegration evidence from stock exchange of Singapore's all-S sector indices. Jurnal Pengurusan, 24(1), 47-77. [Online] Available at: http://pkukmweb.ukm.my/~penerbit/jurnal_pdf/Jp24-03.pdf
- McCallum, B. T. (2006). Singapore's Exchange Rate-Centered Monetary Policy Regime and its Relevance for China. Monetary Authority of Singapore.
- Miao, B., Zhou, S., Nie, J. & Zhang, Z. (2013). Renminbi exchange rate exposure: evidence from Chinese industries. *Journal of Chinese Economic and Business Studies*. 11 (4). 229-250.
- Mollick, A.V. & Assefa, T.A. (2013). U.S. stock returns and oil prices: The tale from daily data and the 2008-2009 financial crisis. *Energy Economics*. *36*. 1-18.
- Moore, T. & Wang, P. (2014). Dynamic linkage between real exchange rates and stock prices: evidence from developed and emerging Asian markets. *International Review of Economics and Finance*. 29. 1-11.
- Muradoglu, Y. G., & Metin, K. (1996). Efficiency of the Turkish stock exchange with respect to monetary variables: a cointegration analysis. European Journal of Operational Research, 90(3), 566-576. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/03772217</u>
- Muradoglu, G, Metin, K., and Argac, R. (2001). Is there a long run relationship between stock returns and monetary variables: evidence from an emerging market", *Applied Financial Economics*, vol. 11, pp. 641-649 [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.cass.city.ac.uk/emg/workingpapers/Published%20papers</u>

 Naka, A., Mukherjee, T., and Tufte, D. (1998). Macroeconomic Variables and the Performance of the Indian Stock Market", University of New Orleans, Department of Economics and Finance, Working Papers, [Online] Available at: <u>http://louisdl.louislibraries.org/cgibin/showfile.exe?CISOROOT=/EFW&CISOPTR=14</u>

Nishat, M. And Shaheen, R. (2004), "Macroeconomic Factors and Pakistani Equity Market", *The Pakistan Development Review*, Vol. 43, No. 4, pp. 619-637 [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.pide.org.pk/pdf/PDR/2004/4/PartII/M%20Nishat.pdf</u>

NYSE. (2006). What drives stock prices? Retrieved from:

http://www1.nyse.com/pdfs/nyse_chap_04

Olugbode, M., El-Masry, A. & Pointon, J. (2013). Exchange rate and interest rate exposure of UK industries using first-order autoregressive exponential garch-inmean (egarch-m) approach. *The Manchester School.* 1-56.

Omole, D. A. (1999). Financial Deepening and Stock Market Development in Nigeria (No. 15). Nigerian Institute of Social and Economic Research (NISER), University of Ibadan. Opfer, H. &Bessler, W., (2004).University of Giessen, FMA's E-journal, June 2004.

- Osisanwo, B.G. and Atanda, A.A. (2012). Determinants of Stock Market Returns in Nigeria: A Time Series Analysis. *African Journal of Scientific Research*, 9(1): 479-489.
- Ozbay, E. (2009). The relationship between stock returns and macroeconomic factors: evidence for Turkey. (Dissertation, University of Exeter, 2009).

- Ozturk, B. (2008). The Effects of Macroeconomic Factors on Istanbul Stock Exchange National 100 Index and Its Volatility''(1997-2006) (Doctoral dissertation, Thesis, Istanbul Technical University (in Turkish)).Chicago
- Palac-McMiken, E. D. (1997). An examination of ASEAN stock markets: a cointegration approach. ASEAN Economic Bulletin, 13(3), 299–311.
- Palepu, K.G., Healy, P.M. & Peek, E. (2010). Business Analysis and Valuation. United Kingdom: Cengage learning.
- Pan, M., Fok, R.C. & Liu, Y.A. (2007). Dynamic linkages between exchange rates and stock prices: evidence from East Asian markets. *International Review of Economics and Finance.* 16. 503-520.
- Parrado, E. (2004). Singapore's unique monetary policy: how does it work? (Vol. 4). International Monetary Fund.
- Pesando, J. E. (1974). The supply of money and common stock prices: Further observations on the econometric evidence. *The Journal of Finance*, 29(3), 909-921.
- Phuvanatnaranubala, T. (2005). Globalisation, Financial Markets and the Operation of Monetary Policy: The Case of Thailand,"BIS papers, 23, 269–274.
- Phylaktis, K. & Ravazzolo, F. (2005). Stock prices and exchange rate dynamics. *Journal* of International Money and Finance. 24. 1031-1053.
- Priestley, R. (1996). The arbitrage pricing theory, macroeconomic and financial factors, and expectations generating processes. *Journal of Banking & Finance*,20(5), 869-890.

- Rjoub, H., Türsoy, T., & Günsel, N. (2009). The effects of macroeconomic factors on stock returns: Istanbul Stock Market. Studies in Economics and Finance, 26(1), 36-45.
- Ryan, S. K., & Worthington, A. (2002). *Time-varying market, interest rate and exchange rate risk in Australian bank portfolio stock returns: a GARCH-M approach.*Queensland University of Technology, School of Economics and Finance.
- Reilly, F. K. and Brown, K. C. (2006). Investment Analysis and Portfolio Management, Eighty Edition, Mason – OH, Thomson South-Western.
- Ross, S. (1976). The arbitrage theory of capital asset pricing. *Journal of Economic Theory*, 13, 341-360.
- Saunders, A., &Yourougou, P. (1990). Are banks special? The separation of banking from commerce and interest rate risk. *Journal of Economics and Business 42*, 171–182.

Scott, W. L., & Peterson, R. L. (1986). Interest rate risk and equity values of hedged and unhedged financial intermediaries. Journal of Financial Research, 9(4), 325-329.

Universiti Utara Malavsia

Sirucek, M. (2012). The impact of money supply on stock prices and stock bubbles.. Sharma, G.D. & Mahendru, M. (2010). Impact of macroeconomic variables on stock prices in India. *Global Journal of Management and Business Research.* 10 (7). 19-26.

Sharpe, S. A. (1999). Stock prices, expected returns, and inflation.

Solnik, B., & McLeavey, D. (2009).Global investments, Sixth edition, Boston, Pearson Prentice Hall.

- Stone, B. K. (1974). Systematic interest-rate risk in a two-index model of returns. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, 9(05), 709-721..
- Tongzon, J. L. (1998). The economies of Southeast Asia: the growth and development of ASEAN economies. Massachusetts: Edward Elgar.
- Tursoy, T., Gunsel, T., and Rjoub, H. (2008), "Macroeconomic Factors, the APT and the Istanbul Stock Market", *International Research Journal of Finance and Economics, Issue 22 [Online] Available at:* http://www.eurojournals.com/irjfe_22_04.pdf
- Wongbangpo, P. (2000). Dynamic analysis on ASEAN stock markets. Southern Illinois University at Carbondale.

World Federation of Exchanges (2013) http://www.worldexchanges.org/home/index.php/statistics

World Stock Exchange Fact Book (1997). Meridian securities markets. LLC: Austin.

- Van Nieuwerburgh, S., Buelens, F., & Cuyvers, L. (2006). Stock market development and economic growth in Belgium. *Explorations in Economic History*, 43(1), 13-38.
- Vazakidis, A., & Adamopoulos, A. (2009). Stock market development and economic growth. American Journal of Applied Sciences, 6(11), 1932.
- Yang, Z., Tu, A.H. & Zeng, Y. (2014). Dynamic linkages between Asian stock prices and exchange rates: new evidence from causality in quantiles. *Applied Economics*. 46 (11). 1184 1201.
- Yildirtan, D. C. (2007). Effects of Macroeconomic Variables on Istanbul Stock Exchange Indexes, the case of Turkish Stock Exchange Market. money, 10, 8.